



Add a tuber to the pod: on edible tuberous legumes

The journal of the International Legume Society

Issue 19 • November 2020

ISSN 2340-1559 (electronic issue)

Quarterly publication January, April, July and October (additional issues possible)

Published by International Legume Society (ILS)

Co-published by CSIC, Institute for Sustainable Agriculture, Córdoba, Spain Instituto de Tecnologia Química e Biológica António Xavier (Universidade Nova de Lisboa), Oeiras, Portugal

Office and subscriptions

CSIC, Institute for Sustainable Agriculture International Legume Society Apdo. 4084, 14080 Córdoba, Spain Phone: +34957499215 • Fax: +34957499252 diego.rubiales@ias.csic.es

Front cover:

Ahipa (*Pachyrhizus ahipa*) plant at harvest, showing pods and tubers. Photo courtesy E.O. Leidi.

Publishing Director

Diego Rubiales CSIC, Institute for Sustainable Agriculture Córdoba, Spain diego.rubiales@ias.csic.es

Editor-in-Chief

M. Carlota Vaz Patto Instituto de Tecnologia Química e Biológica António Xavier (Universidade Nova de Lisboa) Oeiras, Portugal cpatto@itqb.unl.pt

Technical Editor

José Ricardo Parreira Salvado Instituto de Tecnologia Química e Biológica António Xavier (Universidade Nova de Lisboa) Oeiras, Portugal jsalvado@itqb.unl.pt

Legume Perspectives Design

Aleksandar Mikić aleksandar.mikich@gmail.com

Assistant Editors

Svetlana Vujic University of Novi Sad, Faculty of Agriculture, Novi Sad, Serbia Vuk Đorđević Institute of Field and Vegetable Crops, Novi Sad, Serbia Bernadette Julier Institut national de la recherche agronomique, Lusignan, France Kevin McPhee North Dakota State University, Fargo, USA Fred Muehlbauer USDA, ARS, Washington State University, Pullman, USA Margarita Visnhyakova N.I. Vavilov All-Russian Research Institute of Plant Industry, St. Petersburg, Russia Tom Warkentin University of Saskatchewan, Crop Development Centre, Saskatoon, Canada Christine Watson Scotland's Rural College, Aberdeen, UK

Ramakrishnan Nair AVRDC - The World Vegetable Center, Shanhua, Taiwan Ana María Planchuelo-Ravelo National University of Córdoba, CREAN, Córdoba, Argentina Diego Rubiales CSIC, Institute for Sustainable Agriculture, Córdoba, Spain Petr Smýkal Palacký University in Olomouc, Faculty of Science, Department of Botany, Olomouc, Czech Republic Frederick L. Stoddard University of Helsinki, Department of Agricultural Sciences, Helsinki, Finland M. Carlota Vaz Patto Instituto de Tecnologia Química e Biológica António Xavier (Universidade Nova de Lisboa), Oeiras, Portugal

EDITORIAL

Ithough seeds are the major focus of global agriculture, there are also other storage organs, such as tubers and other underground storage organs. The Legume Society is delighted to present this issue of Legumes Perspectives, devoted to edible tuberous legumes that have been largely neglected relative to grain legume crops. We hope to increase the attention paid to these interesting species that produce edible tubers. Tuberous legumes have been domesticated and used as crops mostly in tropical regions of South America, Africa, and Southeastern Asia. None of these is extensively cultivated nowadays, however all harbor a great potential, especially in context of climate change and food security.

On behalf of the Legume Society, we wish to thank the authors of the articles in this issue for their thoughtful and well-prepared contributions.

> Petr Smýkal, Steven B. Cannon Eric B. von Wettberg Managing editors of the issue

CARTE BLANCHE

CONTENTS

4 Carte blanche to Petr Smýkal, Steven B. Cannon and Eric B. von Wettberg

RESEARCH

5 Which came first: the tuber or the vine? A taxonomic overview of underground storage in the legumes. Jacob S. Stai, Eric Bishop von Wettberg, Petr Smýkal and Steven B. Cannon

8 The unusual biogeography of zombi Pea, *Vigna vexillata*. Eric von Wettberg, Ken Naito, Andi Kur and Ndiko Ludidi

10 In vitro culture of Bambara groundnut, Vigna subterranea: State of the Art. Napkalo Silue, Yaya Toure, Sergio Ochatt and Mongomaké Kone

14 African yam bean, Sphenostylis stenocarpa. Michael Abberton, Taofeek T. Adegboyega, Benjamin Faloye, Rajneesh Paliwal and Olaniyi Oyatomi

15 Ahipa, Pachyrhizus ahipa: a legume with edible tuberous roots. Dulce N. Rodríguez-Navarro, Marten Sørensen and Eduardo O. Leidi

19 Economic and ethnobotanical uses of tubers in the genus Pueraria DC. Ashley N. Egan

25 Ethnography of prairie turnip, Pediomelum esculentum. Jacob S. Stai

27 Winged bean, *Psophocarpus tetragonolobus*. Michael Abberton, Taofeek T. Adegboyega, Benjamin Faloye, Rajneesh Paliwal and Olaniyi Oyatomi

29 Apios americana: natural history and ethnobotany. Scott Kalberer, Vikas Belamkar, Jugpreet Singh and Steven Cannon

33 Apios americana: crop improvement and genomic characterization. Vikas Belamkar, Jugpreet Singh, Scott Kalberer, Steven Cannon

36 European tuberous Lathyrus species. Petr Smýkal and László Erdős

EVENTS

40 Announcement of the Fourth International Legume Society Conference



he Fabaceae is the third largest family of flowering plants, with over 800 genera and 20,000 species. It is an extremely diverse family of worldwide distribution, from arctic-alpine herbs, to annual xerophytes and forest trees. Cultivated legumes also fulfill many human needs besides their uses for direct human consumption: providing valuable timber, dyes, forage or fodder, medicine, soil fertility, etc. A little-known use of leguminous species is to provide edible underground storage organs. This trait of forming tubers and other underground storage organs seems to be either ecologically-related to highly seasonal habitats, or developmentally-related to forest canopy density.

Agricultural research has traditionally focused on staples, while relatively little attention has been given to minor (or underutilized or neglected) crops. Moreover, unlike most staples, many of these neglected species are adapted to various marginal growing conditions such as those of arid areas, saltaffected soils, etc. Furthermore, many crops considered neglected at a global

level are staples at a national or regional level. The limited information available on many important and frequently basic aspects of neglected and underutilized crops hinders their development and use. But many of these species have important adaptations and long histories of cultural significance, highlighting their potential for sustainable agricultural intensification and climate resilience.

This issue begins with a taxonomic overview of genera that produce underground storage organs. The remaining articles are organized following the phylogeny presented in this taxonomic overview. Some of the species are quite well-known, such as Pachyrhizus (P. erosus, "jicama" being the most widely-grown in this genus), while others have seen no domestication and are only used regionally, through wild-harvesting (e.g. North American Pediomelum esculentum, "prairie turnip" or Tylosema esculentum, "marama bean"). We also include a review of Vigna subterranea, "bambara ground nut", which though it doesn't produce a tuber, it does produce underground seeds, and is of interest both for its local importance as a crop in sub-Saharan Africa, and for its taxonomic proximity to several other legume crop species in the same genus (including Vigna vexillata, "zombi pea," which is also profiled in this issue).

We hope that the information provided in this issue on tuberous legume species will contribute to their further utilization and understanding.



Left to right: Eric B. von Wettberg, Petr Smýkal and Steven Cannon.

Which came first: the tuber or the vine? A taxonomic overview of underground storage in the legumes

Jacob S. Stai¹, Eric B. von Wettberg², Petr Smýkal³, Steven B. Cannon⁴

Abstract: Tuberous legumes are found in approximately 25 of the ~765 legume genera, and across four of the six subfamilies. Tubers (underground storage organs) have evolved repeatedly within the legumes, apparently in response to particular environmental conditions. Tuberous legumes are most often associated either with viny or prostrate/crawling aboveground growth. The tuberous+viny habit is found in liminal habitats, where the tuber apparently enables rapid vine growth into the canopy of nearby shrubs or trees. The tuberous+prostrate (or shrubby) habit is associated with droughty conditions, where the tuber evidently serves to store water and energy during harsh environmental periods. Edible tuberous species can be utilized for their conveniently stored nutrient reserves.

Key words: tuberous legumes, underground storage organs, tuber, vining habit, prostrate habit

¹ Interdepartmental Genetics and Genomics Graduate Program, Iowa State University, Ames, IA 50011, USA

² Department of Plant and Soil Science, University

⁴ Crop Genome Informatics Laboratory, Corn Insects and Crop Genetics Research Unit, USDA-ARS, Ames, IA 50011, USA

Agriculture, or the science and art of cultivating plants and livestock, might be colloquially thought of as the appropriation of nutritional reserves from plants and animals to serve the needs of humans. Plants pack away nutrients in many forms: in fruits, seeds, carbohydrate-rich sap, and in various other storage organs. Although seeds have been a natural focus for agriculture, tubers and other underground storage organs (USO) have been as well - in crops such as potato (Solanum and Ipomea), taro, manioc, African yams, carrots, parsnips, etc. In this issue of Legume Perspectives, we focus on these specialized organs as they occur in various legume species.

Underground storage can be accomplished in several ways anatomically: in rhizomes (underground stems, common in many grasses); in root tubers (thickened primary roots, such as in carrots); in specialized storage roots (e.g. Dahlia or yacón [Smallanthus sonchifolius]); or in proper tubers (thickenings along underground stems, as in Solanum potato). All of these forms seem to have some anatomical advantages over seeds for the purpose of nutrient storage. Seeds need to include complete propagules, with embryos and programs for dormancy and germination, and mechanisms of dispersal. In contrast, the primary requirements of underground storage are programs to manage the control of sink and source

metabolism, and anatomy that permits accumulation of storage materials (typically starch, water, and sugars).

Why wouldn't USO therefore be more common across a taxonomy? Storage is, by definition, energetically costly. The benefit to the plant must outweigh the costs. By our count, USO are observed in 25 of the ~765 legume genera, and across four of the six subfamilies (Table 1, Figure 1, derived from data from the Legume Phylogenetic Working Group, 2017 (1)). Clues to the environmental conditions for evolution of such USO are suggested by the two main ecological-developmental syndromes that are typical for these genera.

The first syndrome occurs in grassland or desert environments that are highly seasonal, with a cold or dry season unsuitable for plant growth. Most tuberous legume taxa in these environments are small herbs or shrubs, but a few are perennial sprawling vines. In such seasonal settings a USO is of clear advantage because it can facilitate regrowth in a suitable season. Likewise, upon development of a tuber to store energy, a vining habit would be of clear advantage even in desert or grassland conditions without shrubs to climb onto, if the increased growth allows the plant to both survive lean times more effectively. One possible risk of overgrowth would be overuse of available water resources for cooling, but tubers may assist with this as

of Vermont, Burlington, VT 05405, USA

³ Department of Botany, Palacký University, Olomouc, Czechia

Genus	Species (e.g.)	Region	Common names	Habitat	Habit
Phaseolus	coccineus	Central America	scarlet runner bean	S	vine
Vigna	vexillata	pantropical	tuber cowpea	S	vine
Lablab	purpureus	N Africa	hyacinth bean	S	vine
Vatovaea	pseudolablab	E Africa	olkalei	DG	vining shrub
Sphenostylis	stenocarpa	C&S Africa	African yam bean	DG,F	vine
Neorautanenia	brachypus	S Africa	zhombwe	D	prostrate herb
Pachyrhizus	erosus	C&S-America	jicama	DG,F	vine
Pueraria	montana	pantropical	kudzu	M,F	vine
Pediomelum	esculenta	N-America	Indian breadroot	DG	low herb
Pseudeminia	comosa	eastern Africa		S	vine
Psophocarpus	tetragonolobus	New Guinea	winged bean	G	vine
Flemingia	vestita	Australia, India	sohphlang	M,F	vine
Apios	americana	N-America, SE Asia	potato bean	R	vine
Lathyrus	tuberosus	Europe, W Asia	tuberous pea	G	climbing herb
Trifolium	somalense	E Africa		D	low herb
Coursetia	caribaea	C&S-America	anil falso	F	low herb
Peteria	scoparia	S N-America	camote del monte	D	shrub
Weberbauerella	chilensis	S-America		D	shrub
Weberbauerella	tuberosum	S Africa		D	low herb
Luetzelburgia	andina	S-America		D	shrub
			elephant root, sumach		
Elephantorrhiza	burkei	S Africa	bean	D	shrub
Hoffmannseggia	glauca	S N-America	Indian rushpea	D	shrub
Neoapaloxylon	tuberosum	Madagascar	tala	D	shrub
Tylosema	esculentum	S Africa	marama bean	D	prostrate vine

Table 1. Legume genera with underground storage organs. Only one species is indicated per genus; some genera have multiple species with such organs. Environment key: S scrubland; D desert; M montane; F forests; DG dry grassland; G grassland; R riparian.

well.

The marama bean (*Tylosema esculenta*) of the Kalahari is a clear demonstration of this model. *Tylosema* tubers have a variety of local uses, one of which is as an emergency water supply. They can reach prodigious sizes; according to Lost Crops of Africa: Volume II, a marama tuber weighing 277 kg was once dug up in Botswana. That publication estimated that perhaps 250 kg of this would have been water, earning the plant the moniker of a "living cistern".

The second syndrome takes place in environments where the canopy is not closed, but where the ground is sheltered and shaded by shrubs and smaller trees. This includes both broad scrubland landscapes and liminal habitats such as forest edges or riparian zones. In these environments, every one of the tuberous legumes of which we are aware has a vining habitat. In these scrubland habitats or riparian zones, vining plants compete in a rapid scramble to the tops of canopies; and vines growing from larger tubers would be at a clear advantage over vines growing from smaller seeds, because they start this construction race with far more raw materials at their disposal. Kudzu (Pueraria lobata) demonstrates this famously in the southeastern United States, and in its native range across east Asia and the south Pacific.

In our examination of the distribution of USOs across the legumes (Figure 1), we note a high frequency in the Phaseoleae. This suggests USO as a more likely ancestral state for this group than for many others. But we also note that every single tuberous member of the Phaseoleae of which we are aware has either a vining or prostrate habit, leading us to the question of which came first: the tuber or the vine?

Simple parsimony within the Phaseoleae would recommend the vine as more likely than the tuber, since there are more vining members of the Phaseoleae than tuberous; but most tuberous Phaseoleae are vines specifically after the model of our second syndrome, which takes a vining habit as a context that a tuber could augment. This is important because it is the first syndrome, not the second, which has arisen in the most diverse set of Fabaceae lineages, the Phaseoleae included (e.g. *Neorautanenia brachypus*).

Acknowledgements

This research was supported in part by the US Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service, project 5030-21000-062-00D. USDA is an equal opportunity provider and employer. E.J.B.v.W is further supported by the USDA Hatch program through the Vermont State Agricultural Experimental Station

References

(1) The Legume Phylogeny Working Group (LPWG) (2017) A new subfamily classification of the Leguminosae based on a taxonomically comprehensive phylogeny. Taxon 66(1):44-77.



Figure 1. Legume genera with underground storage organs. See table 1 for species names and habitats. Phylogeny was calculated using matK sequences selected genus representatives from LPWG, 2017 (1). Clade abbreviations: "vat" = vataireoid; "gen" = genistoid; "dalb" = dalbergioid; IRLC = inverted-repeat-lacking clade.

The unusual biogeography of zombi pea, *Vigna* vexillata

Eric B. von Wettberg¹, Ken Naito², Andi Kur¹, Ndiko Ludidi³

Abstract: Vigna vexillata, also called "zombi pea" and "tuber cowpea," has sufficient genetic similarity with domesticated cowpea (V. unguiculata) to be partially reproductively compatible. V. vexillata is of interest for several reasons. It has been used in both northeast Africa and in Indonesia for its edible seeds and tubers. Phylogenetic and biogeographic evidence suggests independent domestication in both Africa and Indonesia. As an underutilized crop, research priorities include: germplasm collection and characterization, evaluation of agronomic characteristics (such as competitive partitioning between seed and tuber, and photoperiod interactions), biological and nutritional properties of seeds and tubers, and responses to biotic and abiotic stresses.

Key words: *Vigna vexillata*, zombi pea, tuber cowpea, underutilized crops

The zombi pea, *Vigna vexillata* (L.) A. Rich, is an underutilized legume species with a pantropical distribution and with a large amount of genetic and phenotypic variability. While its wild distribution includes all five continents (1-3), cultivated varieties have been reported only in Sudan and Indonesia (4, 5). These two cultivated forms are not

¹ University of Vermont, Plant and Soil Sciences and Gund Institute for the Environment, Burlington VT 05405 USA

² National Agriculture and Food Research

Organization, Genetic Resources Center, Tsukuba Japan

³ University of the Western Cape, Department of Biotechnology, CapeTown, South Africa cross compatible, suggesting that the wild form has substantial genetic variation within it and is likely a species complex. The Sudanese cultivated form, which is moderately tolerant to drought, salt and some biotic stresses, is generally cultivated for seeds. However, in Bali, where varieties are more susceptible to many kinds of stresses, it is generally cultivated for its tubers. Similarly, V. vexillata var. lobatifolia, which grows naturally in the Namibu desert, is widely eaten by indigenous people. It forms fleshy and crispy tubers that are edible even raw. The tubers of V. vexillata, as well as seeds, contains 15% N and can be a rich source of protein. Across all the regions where it is consumed, it often serves an important food security role, particularly in

times of famine.

Besides being partially reproductively compatible with cowpea (V. ungiculata) and serving as a potential source of tolerance to biotic and abiotic stresses (e.g. 6, 7), V. vexillata has attracted some scientific attention because of its curious domestication history. Within the last two decades, several lines of data have been produced to suggest two independent domestication events for the Sudanese and Indonesian cultivars. This hypothesis has been substantiated by isozyme marker analysis of herbarium specimens (8); RAPD analysis of V. angustifloria, V. macrosperma, and V. vexillata (9); morphological and agronomic evaluation and test crosses between Bali and Sudan accessions (10-12);



Figure 1. Left: *V. vexillata* var. *macrosperma*; 165 g. Right: *V. vexillata* var. *lobatifolia*; 218 g. Both plants were harvested at 112 days. Photos courtesy Norihiko Tomooka.

analysis of nuclear DNA-ITS and chloroplast atpB-rbcL spacer regions of Vigna (13) and most recently, by SSR marker analysis of 422 different wild and cultivated accessions of V. vexillata (14) (Figure 1). In the most comprehensive of the aforementioned studies, Dachapak et al. (14) showed that cultivated African and Asian accessions form separate clusters in both neighbor-joining and principle coordinate analysis; however, these results were obtained from only 14 accessions of cultivated V. vexillata, of which 8 were of African origin and 3 of Asian origin. Consequently, resolution of these domestications has been precluded by a lack of accessible germplasm from Indonesian accessions, a condition that was noted in the remaining studies as well. Collection of germplasm of V. vexillata from Bali will lend resolution to future research by increasing material available for genetic analysis.

Collectively, these studies suggest that the domestication of the zombi pea occurred as two independent events; however, currently little conclusion can be drawn regarding the domestication of V. vexillata specific to the Indonesian accessions, primarily due to a of collected germplasm lack and subsequently limited sample sizes in the aforementioned studies. While the details of these domestications are relatively unrefined, their independent occurrence provides a unique opportunity to explore domestication of tuber forming legumes.

As an underutilized legume, there are several aspects of the biology of Zombi pea warranting further investigation. Germplasm collections of wild and cultivated are needed, with both access to researchers and appropriate benefit sharing following Furthermore, international agreements. information on variation in its capacity for tuber formation, and trade-offs between tuber and seed production are needed. As tuber formation is likely a means of surviving dry seasons, tuber formation may vary geographically across the enormous V. vexillata range. The biological properties of seeds and tubers warrant more investigation, as some promising compounds for medicinal uses have been found previously (e.g. 15, 16). More information on cultural uses, beyond its use as food source during famines, is needed to understand how it is used, and how human movement may have contributed to its global distribution. Finally, as a reservoir of potentially adaptive traits for cowpea, information is needed on its stress tolerance and disease resistance.

RESEARCH TIMELINE

1954 – Ferguson (4) \rightarrow "*V. vexillata* is a unique crop of Sudan where it is grown on a small scale in one locality for edible root & seeds"

1998 – Garba & Pasquet (8) → suggest independent domestication of Bali & Sudan *vexillata* based on herbarium accessions & isozyme variation

1998 – Spinosa *et al.* (9) \rightarrow RAPD to analyze var. *angustifloria, macrosperma, & vexillata,* found no relationship between botanical varieties and geographical origins

2006 – Karuniawan *et al.* (5) \rightarrow confirmed reports that *V. vexillata* is grown on Bali & East Timor as a cultivated root crop

2010 – Damayanti *et al.* (a,b,c) (10-12) \rightarrow "studied agronomic and morphological traits of *vexillata* germplasm and found that accessions from Bali & Africa are different, but used a small number of accessions." Bali cultivar is not cross compatible with the African **2016** – Takahashi *et al.* (13) \rightarrow "determined phylogenetic relationship of many *Vigna* accessions (including 9 *vexillata*) using DNA-ITC and chloroplast *atpB-rbcL* and found that Bali accessions are genetically different from other accessions

2017 – Dachapak *et al.* (14) \rightarrow "report a genetic diversity analysis of 422 zombi pea accessions from various origins using SSR markers from azuki bean, cowpea, and mungbean"

- all of the above suggests that Bali was a separate cultivation event
- suggest that Bali cultivar was domesticated from wild Indian
- cultivated zombi pea may also be grown in Sri Lanka?

References

 Lawn RJ and James AT (1991) Inheritance of selected traits in accessions of *Vigna vexillata* (L.)
 A. Rich of Australian and African origin. Aust J Bot 39: 415-29.

(2) Pienaar BJ and Kok PDF (1991) The *Vigna* vexillata complex (Fabaceae) in southern Africa. S Afr Tydskr Plantk 57(5):236-245.

(3) Sasikumar B and Sardana S (1988) *Vigna vexillata* (Fabaceae), a pulse cum tuber crop of northeastern hill region of India. Econ Bot 42(2):292.

(4) Ferguson H (1954) The food crops of the Sudan and their relation to environment. In: A paper presented at the 1953 Conference of the Philosophical Society of the Sudan on "Foodand Society in the Sudan", Philosophical Society of the Sudan Khartoum, McCorquodaleand Co. (Sudan), Ltd.

(5) Karuniawan A, Iswandi A, Kale PR, *et al.* (2006) *Vigna vexillata* (L.) A. Rich. cultivated as a root crop in Bali and Timor. Genet Resour Crop Ev 53:213-217.

(6) Ogundiwin EA, Thottappilly G, Aken'Ova ME, *et al.* (2002) Resistance to cowpea mottle carmovirus in *Vigna vexillata*. Plant Breeding 121:517-520.

(7) Ogundiwin EA, Thottappilly G, Aken'Ova ME, *et al.*(2005) A genetic linkage map of *Vigna vexillata*. Plant Breeding 214:392-398.

(8) Garba M and Pasquet RS (1998) Isozyme diversity in *Vigna vexillata* (L.) A. Rich (Fabaceae) complex. S Afr J Bot 64(3):163-175.

(9) Spinosa A, Pignone D, Sonnante G (1998) Assessment of genetic variation in a working collection of *Vigna vexillata* (L.) A. Rich. by isozyme and RAPD analyses. Genet Resour Crop Ev 45:347-354. (10) Damayanti F, Lawn RJ, Bielig LM (2010) Genetic variation in domesticated and wild accessions of the tropical tuberous legume *Vigna vexillata* (L.) A. Rich. Crop Pasture Sci 61:771-784.
(11) Damayanti F, Lawn RJ, Bielig LM (2010) Genetic compatibility among domesticated and wild accessions of the tropical tuberous legume *Vigna vexillata* (L.) A. Rich. Crop Pasture Sci 61:785-797.

(12) Damayanti F, Lawn RJ, Bielig LM (2010) Expression of qualitative and quantitative traits in hybrids between domesticated and wild accessions of the tropical tuberous legume *Vigna vexillata* (L.) A. Rich. Crop Pasture Sci 61:798-811.

(13) Takahashi Y, Somta P, Muto C, *et al.* (2016) Novel genetic resources in the genus *Vigna* unveiled from gene bank accessions. *PLoS ONE* 11(1):e0147568.

(14) Dachapak S, Somta P, Poonchaivilaisak S, et al. (2017) Genetic diversity and structure of the zombi pea (*Vigna vexillata* (L.) A. Rich) gene pool based on SSR marker analysis. Genetica 145:189-200.

(15) Sowndhararajan K, Siddhuraju P, Manian S
(2009) Antioxidant and free radical scavenging capacity of the underutilized legume, *V. vexillata*(L.) A. Rich. J Food Compos Anal 24:160-165.

(16) Leu Y, Hwang T, Kuo P, *et al.* (2012) Constituents from *Vigna vexillata* and their antiinflammatory activity. Int J Mol Sci 13:9754-9768.



In vitro culture of Bambara groundnut, *Vigna subterranea*: State of the Art

Napkalo Silue¹, Yaya Toure², Sergio Ochatt³, Mongomaké Kone^{2,*}

Abstract: Bambara groundnut (Vigna subterranea (L.) Verdc.) is an indigenous grain legume with a prominent place in the strategies to ensure food security in sub-Saharan Africa. Developing an efficient in vitro regeneration system is a prerequisite for application of genetic transformation in Bambara groundnut breeding. Therefore, several studies have been undertaken with various explants derived from in vitro seed germination and mature seeds. The morphogenetic responses induced by treatments including basal salt media, combinations and concentrations of growth regulators, concentrations and sources of carbohydrates have been recorded. This review highlights the main findings on in vitro breeding approaches in Bambara groundnut. Key words: in vitro biotechnology, Vigna subterranea (L.) Verdc, morphogenetic responses

Introduction

Bambara groundnut [Vigna subterranea (L.) Verdc.] is an indigenous crop cultivated mainly by women in arid and semiarid regions of sub-Saharan Africa. Seeds can be eaten fresh (semi-ripe), as a pulse (dry and mature) or ground into flour (1). (Editor's note: though not a tuber-producing legume, we include V. subterranea in this issue for its importance in local agroecosystems, and for potential in other arid environments, and inkeeping with the theme of underground storage organs. It is also interesting for its taxonomic proximity to other Vigna species, including V. vexillata, discussed in the preceding article). Bambara plays an important role in food security, particularly in terms of protein requirements for lowincome farmers. The seeds are used also as feed for pigs and poultry and the haulm as fodder (2). However, as for most indigenous African plants (3), few research efforts have been devoted to the plant. Pod yields remain low and unpredictable (650 - 850 kg. ha-1), because of the variability observed in growth and development within each landrace (4). The seeds contain anti-nutritional factors like tannins, oxalates and trypsin inhibitors that often lower product quality and protein availability (5).

Genetic selection, induced mutagenesis and, more recently, biotechnological techniques can result in a larger and more efficient cultivation of Bambara groundnut. Thus, approaches such as somatic hybridization and gene transfer may be used to improve this species and to transfer its favourable stress-resistant traits to other legumes but, for this, establishment of a regeneration system is the main prerequisite. Biotechnological tools have been used for various minor legumes including Vigna mungo, Lathyrus sativus, Vigna angularis and Vigna sesquipedalis (3), but literature in this domain for Vigna subterranea (L.) is scanty, with just a few formal reports so far. The present review summarizes the major results obtained since the first reports signalling in vitro culture techniques in Bambara groundnut (6,7).

In vitro seed germination and shortening of generations cycles in Bambara groundnut

In vitro seed germination in Bambara groundnut provided clean plant material (Figure 1j-l) for subsequent *in vitro* propagation, but was also used in the first report on the acceleration of generation cycles in Bambara, with up to 4 generations

¹Université Felix Houphouet Boigny, UFR Biosciences, Laboratoire de Physiologie et Pathologie Végétales, 22 BP 582 Abidjan 22 ²Université Nangui Abrogoua, UFR Sciences de la Nature, Laboratoire de Biologie et Amélioration des Productions Végétales, 02 BP 801 Abidjan 02

³Agroécologie, AgroSup Dijon, INRAE, Université de Bourgogne, Université Bourgogne Franche-Comté, 21000 Dijon, France

^{*} e-mail: babadaoudi@gmail.com

RESEARCH



Figure 1. Morphogenetic responses from various explants excised from two-week-old *in vitro* germinated seedlings from mature Bambara groundnut seeds. (a-g) variability in colour and size of mature seeds of Bambara groundnut landraces; (h) seed removed from the shell after surface disinfection; (i) excised seed to remove the embryo axis (red arrow); (j-l) two week-old- plantlets from seed germination with shell, without shell and from the embryo axis; (m-q) callus growth from cotyledon, leaf, petiole, epicotyl and root explants; (r-u) induction of globular somatic embryos and development at the heart, torpedo and cotyledonary stages (red arrows); (v-z) induction of buds and development of shoot buds from cotyledon, embryo axis, hypocotyl, epicotyl and apex explants; (ab) direct induction of flowers (black arrows) from the cotyledon explant; (ac) elongation and rooting of regenerated plants on MS medium lacking growth regulator or supplemented with IBA and NAA; (ad) *in vitro* flowering of regenerated plant; (ae) regenerated plant acclimatized in greenhouse; (af) regenerated plant acclimatized and successfully transferred to the field.

per year combining *in vitro* and *in vivo* culture (8). Then, modifying this strategy, gamma irradiation was applied to *in vitro* germinated seeds to improve the productivity in Bambara (7).

These investigations revealed that although peeled seeds germinated within 7 days while the unpeeled control needed 14 days, by 21 days germination percentage and plantlet growth were comparable among treatments. Embryo axis explants gave 96.2% germination by 21 days of culture and 0.5-1 mg/l NAA enhanced root growth compared to auxin-free medium, but size of the embryo axis-derived plantlets was about one quarter that of the peeled or unpeeled seeds.

More recently, in addition to the use of seeds with (Figure 1a-g) or without seed coats (Figure 1h) or the embryo axis (Figure 1i), Koné et al. (9) evaluated: (i) full strength (MS), half (1/2 MS), and quarter-strength Murashige and Skoog (10) salts (1/4 MS); (ii) 3 % of sucrose, glucose, and fructose and (iii) 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6% of the best carbon source defined in ii) for their effectiveness in promoting germination and subsequent seedling growth. Thus, explant type was the only factor with a major influence on germination capacity and embryo axis followed by seeds without coat gave the best rate of germination, while the best seedling growth was observed with the seeds without coat followed by the embryo axis, on half MS medium containing 3 % sucrose.

Callus induction and differentiation in Bambara groundnut

An efficient callusing protocol in Bambara would be useful for hybrid embryo rescue, *in vitro* mutagenesis, cell line screening, isolation and fusion of protoplasts, plant regeneration and gene transfer. Moreover, cell suspension cultures initiated from callus are of great importance in secondary metabolites production with industrial and pharmaceutical applications.

Callus induction and differentiation was first reported using cotyledon (Figure 1m) and epicotyl (Figure 1p) explants (11). For all Bambara landraces tested: Ci1, Ci3, Ci4, GB2 and MB, best callusing was on a medium with 3 mg/l BAP + 0.5 mg/l NAA, coupled with direct regeneration of roots from cotyledon and epicotyl explants or after a callusing phase. Koné *et al.* (12) extended the explants to leaves (Figure 1n), petioles (Figure 1o) and roots (Figure 1q) of seedlings from embryo axes of landraces Ci1, Ci2, Ci3, Ci4, GB1, GB2 and MB. Growth regulators were critical for the frequency of callus formation and differentiation potential, and the petioles gave the best responses on MS medium with 3-5 mg/l BAP and 0.5 mg/l NAA. After 3 months, callus produced both adventitious buds (11-27%) and somatic embryos (50-68%) (Figure 1r-u), with a strong genotypic effect. On the other hand, Konaté et al. (13) reported callus induction and proliferation from embryo axes on MS medium with vitamins B5 and various growth regulators. After four weeks of culture, best results were obtained from the basal part of embryo axes on a medium with 2,4-D (0.5 mg/L) and 84 mM sucrose, and with landraces Ci2, Ci3, Ci4, Ci5, Ci6, Ci7, Ci10 and Ci21. Soon after, they also reported callus induction and proliferation from cotyledon explants, which was best with the distal segment of landrace Ci7, on a medium with 2,4-D or Picloram, while combining auxins with various cytokinins resulted in reduction of both callus formation and proliferation (14).

Whole plant regeneration in Bambara groundnut

Lacroix *et al.* (6) were the first to report regeneration of fertile plants through direct shoot organogenesis from embryo axes from the mature seeds of two landraces. They used a medium with BAP and NAA for six days, then cut axes transversely, transferred them onto a medium with BAP alone where 100% gave 5-8 shoots each. Shoots rooted on NAA and plants were transferred to the greenhouse, where all regenerants were morphologically normal, fertile and diploid as shown by flow cytometric analyses and chloroplast counts of guard cells. Koné et al. (11) established the first protocol for de novo plant regeneration from cotyledon (Figure 1v) and epicotyl (Figure 1y) explants of several landraces from Côte d'Ivoire, with successful regeneration of normal and fertile plants from both explants and all landraces. Of interest in this work was the formation of flowers (Figure 1a,b), without any intervening callus phase, and the distinction between landraces according to their relative nuclear DNA content, determined by flow cytometry (Figure 2). In another study, multiple shoots were obtained from both epicotyls and hypocotyls but regeneration efficiency was higher with the former and using BAP, while equimolar concentrations of kinetin or TDZ or adding NAA for shoot bud induction did not improve results. Shoots were rooted on auxin-free halfstrength MS medium, 62% of plantlets were weaned and 73% of these survived in soil (15).

Owunibi et al. (16) reported direct organogenesis from nodal segments with pre-existing meristems of 28-days-old plantlets from embryo axes of two accessions of Bambara groundnut, TVSU1834 (Nigeria) and TVSU255 (Niger), of which the former responded best.

Koné et al. (17) regenerated buds from embryo-free cotyledon explants of ten Bambara landraces excised transversally or



Figure 2. Dendrogram of the variability in genome size between 18 Vigna subterranea (L.) landraces.

longitudinally (referred to as proximal, middle and distal) and placed onto the medium with the adaxial or abaxial side down. Multiple shoot formation occurred on MS medium with BAP alone or combined with NAA, but was restricted to the proximal segment of cotyledons, adaxial side down on the medium. Caulogenesis was best with landraces Ci6, Ci2, Ci4 and Ci5, regenerated shoots were rooted on hormone-free MS medium and all rooted plantlets survived transfer to a sand soil mixture and morphologically normal plants hardened and transferred to were greenhouse for further growth to maturity and seed set.

Finally, Napkalo *et al.* (18) described a rapid, simple and efficient micropropagation protocol from shoot tips (Figure 1z) of Bambara groundnut using MS medium with B5 vitamins, sucrose and with different concentrations of various cytokinins, of which Thidiazuron at 0.45 μ M was best. The individual shoots rooted on MS medium (Figure 1ac), were hardened in the greenhouse (Figure 1ae) and established in the field (Figure 1af), where 70-80 % survived, morphologically normal and fertile.

Conclusion

The literature review showed that different morphogenetic responses can be observed in Bambara groundnut with different explants. Among these, the embryo axes and cotyledon fragments were obtained from mature seeds, while the epicotyl, hypocotyl, leaf, root, nodal segment and apex explants were taken from two-weeks-old plantlets. Seedlings were issued from the germination of mature seeds with or without a shell and the development of the embryo axis. The main morphogenetic responses observed were the induction of calli, the formation of roots before or after a callogenesis phase, the induction of multiple buds and their subsequent development into shoot buds and the induction of somatic embryos on supplemented with media different concentrations and combinations of 2,4-D, BAP, and NAA. Any shoot buds obtained were rooted on MS medium without growth regulators, regenerated plants were identical to the mother plants and about 70% survived upon field transfer.

Perspectives

Callogenesis protocols established will be useful for in vitro hybrid embryo rescue, in vitro mutagenesis, cell line screening and plant regeneration and will be applicable for transformation genetic in Bambara Likewise, efficient groundnut. the regeneration systems established by direct organogenesis will help genetic improvement of this grain legume crop relevant for lowincome, food-deficit countries in Africa by rendering it more amenable to the exploitation of novel biotechnological breeding tools. Plant regeneration from shoot apex can be efficiently used for mass propagation, germplasm preservation and probably also for gene transfer. Future work will focus on developing somatic embryos and their conversion into whole plantlets. The regeneration of plants from calli will also be exploited for the early selection of Bambara groundnut lines tolerant and / or resistant to biotic and abiotic stresses.



References

 Linnemann AR and Azam Ali S (1993) Bambara groundnut (*Vigna subterranea* (L.) Verdc.).
 In: Williams JT (ed) Underutilized crops series 2.
 Vegetables and pulses. Chapman & Hall, London, UK, pp13–58.

(2) Doku EV and Karikari SK (1971) Operational selection in wild Bambara groundnut. Ghana J Sci 11:45–56.

(3) Ochatt SJ, Jain SM, eds (2007) Breeding of neglected and under-utilized crops, spices and herbs. Science Publishers ISBN 978-1-57808-509-5, Enfield, NH, USA. 447 p.

(4) Squire GR, Connolly H, Crawford J, et al. (1997) Linking vegetative and reproductive trait variability in landraces of Bambara groundnut. In: Sesay A (ed) Proc Int Symp Bambara groundnut. University of Nottingham, UK, pp 201-213.

(5) Odumodu CU (1992) Antinutrients content of some locally available legumes and cereals in Nigeria. Trop Geogr Med 44:260-263.

(6) Lacroix B, Assoumou Y, Sangwan RS (2003) Efficient *in vitro* direct shoot organogenesis of fertile plants from embryo explants of Bambara groundnut [*Vigna subterranea* (L.) Verdc.]. Plant Cell Rep 21:1153-1158.

(7) Adu-Dapaah HK, Sangwan RS (2004) Improving bambara groundnut productivity using gamma irradiation and *in vitro* technique. Afr J Biotechnol 3:260-265.

(8) Ochatt SJ, Sangwan RS, Marget P, *et al.* (2002) New approaches towards the shortening of generation cycles for faster breeding of protein legumes. Plant Breed 121:436-440.

(9) Koné M, Koné T, Silué N, et al. (2015) In vitro seeds germination and seedling growth of Bambara groundnut (Vigna subterranea (L.) Verdc. (Fabaceae)). Sci World J.:595073.

(10) Murashige T and Skoog F (1962) A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassay with tobacco tissue cultures. Physiol Plant 15:473-497.

(11) Koné M, Patat-Ochatt EM, Conreux C, et al. (2007) In vitro morphogenesis from cotyledon and epicotyl explants and flow cytometry distinction between landraces of Bambara groundnut [Vigna subterranea (L.) Verdc], an under-utilised grain legume. Plant Cell Tiss Organ Cult 88:61-75.

(12) Koné M, Kouakou TH, Koné D, et al. (2009) Factors affecting regeneration of Bambara groundnut [*Vigna subterranea* (L.) Verdc.] from mature embryo axes. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol-Plant 45:769-775.

(13) Konaté S, Koné M, Koffi EK, *et al.* (2013) Induction et prolifération de cals à partir de l'axe embryonnaire du Voandzou [*Vigna subterranea* (L.) Verdc. Fabaceae] : effet de la segmentation de l'explant, des phytohormones, de la source de carbone et du génotype. Afr Sci 9 :140–150.

(14) Konaté S, Koné M, Kouakou HT, et al. (2013) Callus induction and proliferation from

cotyledon explants in Bambara groundnut. Afr Crop Sci J 21:255-263.

(15) Koné M, Kouakou TH, Koné D, et al. (2009) In vitro plantlets regeneration in Bambara groundnut [Vigna subterranea (L.) Verdc. (Fabaceae)] through direct shoot bud differentiation on hypocotyl and epicotyl cuttings. Afr J Biotechnol 8:1466-1473.

(16) Owunibi SJ and Ojuederie OB (2011) Organogenesis of bambara groundnut (*Vigna subterranea* L. Verdc.) *in vitro* culture from nodal segment. Int J Plant Dev Biol 5:53-57.

(17) Koné M, Koné T, Kouakou TH, et al. (2013) Plant regeneration via direct shoot organogenesis from cotyledon explants of Bambara groundnut, *Vigna subterranea* (L.) Verdc. Biotechnol Agron Soc Environ 17:584–592.

(18) Silué N, Koné T, Soumahoro AB, Koné M (2016) *In vitro* shoot tip multiplication of bambara groundnut [*Vigna subterranea* (L.) Verdc.]. Plant Cell Tiss Organ Cult 127:603-611.

African yam bean, Sphenostylis stenocarpa

Michael Abberton¹, Taofeek T. Adegboyega¹, Benjamin Faloye¹, Rajneesh Paliwal¹ and Olaniyi Oyatomi¹

Abstract: Many tuberous legumes are underutilized, with little or no research attention given to their genetic improvement, thereby limiting their potential to support food, nutritional, and economic security. Understanding and exploiting the potential of African yam bean, Sphenostylis stenocarpa, is important for increasing its role, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa under climate change. This crop is utilized as seeds and as tuberous roots, as both are of high nutritional value. The Genetic Resources Center (GRC) of the International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), based in Ibadan, Nigeria is focusing on understanding the genetic diversity in our collection and evaluating key traits to build a platform for pre-breeding and breeding.

Key words: Genetic resources, genetic improvement, underutilized, *Sphenostylis stenocarpa*

African yam bean, Sphenostylis stenocarpa (Hochst. ex A. Rich.), is an underutilized annual tuberous legume that serves as a food and nutritional security crop in sub-Saharan Africa and is the most economically important species in the genus Sphenostylis (1). It produces beans in pods with varying seed patterns and colors (2). The seed is rich in protein (19.5%), carbohydrates (62.6%), fat (2.5%), vitamins and minerals. The protein is made up of over 32% essential amino acids, with lysine and leucine being predominant (3). Omeire (4) reported higher levels of amino acids (lysine, histidine, arginine, valine) than previously recorded in other legumes.

It also produces edible tubers that contain approximately 19% crude protein (5). The tubers (Figure 1) resemble sweet potato, mature in five to eight months (6), and come in various shapes such as spindle, round, oval, and irregular. In West Africa only the seeds are currently consumed. These are rich in protein and minerals, particularly potassium, magnesium and iron. Accessions have been evaluated that could be used as parents in crop improvement strategies (7).

The crop has many sociocultural uses as a traditional crop in Africa for instance, during lean periods in the eastern parts of Nigeria the crop is utilised as substitute for cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* (L.) Walp.) The lectin content in seeds have been reported to be effective in the control of some leguminous pests.

Genetic diversity assessment of the available landraces and continuous germplasm exploration and collection to fill gaps in the existing *ex-situ* collection will enhance the success of breeding. GRC has been carrying out morphological and molecular characterisation of our international collections.

References

 National Research Council (NRC) (U.S.) (1975) Underexploited tropical plants with promising economic value. 2nd Edition. U.S. National Academies.

(2) Asoiro FU and Ani A (2011) Determination of some physical properties of African yam beans. Pac J Sci Technol 12:374-380.

(3) Raji M, Adeleye O, Mosobalaje M, et al. (2016) Growth response and serum biochemical parameters of starter broiler chickens fed toasted African yam bean (*Sphenostylis stenocarpa*) seeds meal with enzyme supplementation. Arch Zootec 65:139-143.

(4) Omeire GC (2012) Amino acid profile of raw and extruded blends of African yam bean (*Sphenostylis stenocarpa*) and cassava flour. Am Food Nut 2: 65-68.

(5) Adewale B and Dumet DJ (2011) Descriptors for African yam bean, *Sphenostylis stenocarpa* (Hochst ex. A. Rich.) Harms. pp. 1-13. Genetic Resources Center, International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), Ibadan, Nigeria.



Figure 1. a) African yam bean pods and b) tuberous roots.

(6) Chinedu SN and Nwinyi CO (2012) Proximate analysis of *Sphenostylis stenocarpa* and *Voadzeia subterranean* consumed in South-Eastern Nigeria. Agric Biotech Sustain Dev 4:1-6.

(7) Ojuederie O and Balogun M (2017) Genetic variation in nutritional properties of African yam bean (*Sphenostylis stenocarpa* Hochst ex. A. Rich. Harms) accessions. Nig Agric Food Env 13:180-187.

¹ International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), P.M.B. 53220, Ibadan, Oyo State, Nigeria

Ahipa, *Pachyrhizus ahipa*: a legume with edible tuberous roots

Dulce N. Rodríguez-Navarro¹, Marten Sørensen², Eduardo O. Leidi³

Abstract: Legumes are mostly known by their protein and oil rich seeds, but the main value of the old Andean legume crop "ahipa" (Pachyrhizus ahipa) resides in its nutritious tuberous roots. Traditionally, ahipa roots have been consumed fresh, but nowadays they are also a source of valuable starch and other sub-products. Ahipa can be cropped without the need of N fertilizers due to the capacity to fix atmospheric N2, in symbiosis with appropriate rhizobial strains. In temperate regions, with the use of efficient rhizobia, economic yields may be obtained in rainfed or irrigated agriculture. Key words: Pachyrhizus ahipa, tuberous-root, starch, sugars, proteins

Introduction

Among the different species of root crops native to the Andean region of South America, there are some which are littleknown and today at the risk of extinction (1, 2). Cultural changes, social factors, management difficulties together with the increased production of cash crops are pushing these species away from their traditionally areas of production (3, 4). Ahipa (Pachyrhizus ahipa [Wedd.] Parodi) is a tuberous-root producing legume cultivated by indigenous cultures in pre-Columbian South America (4). As with many other crops in the Andean region, loss of valuable cultivars is likely as the cultivation is being gradually abandoned by traditional producers (4-8). In Northern Argentina, the last record of ahipa production was dated in the 1990s (9, 10). However, ahipa cropping still remains in Bolivia although in very limited and isolated areas (7). Ahipa roots are traditionally consumed fresh, and according to traditional knowledge, they hold certain medicinal properties (2).

Here, we provide an update on some physiological, agronomic, and food properties of ahipa. Increasing popularity of this crop may lead to new uses and may reduce the loss of genetic biodiversity.

Roots

The tuberous roots of ahipa (Figure 1) have traditionally been consumed raw, as a vegetable, providing vitamin C and energy (starch and sugars) in the diet of Andean communities (5, 11); or processed into juice as traditionally consumed during the festival of Todos Santos (2, 6). Ahipa food properties include energy and dietary fiber, with low anti-nutrients contents (12). The roots also can be used for preparation of staple foods like West African gari, which is normally made with manioc root (Manihot esculenta Crantz) (13), or in the production of raw materials like biodegradable plastics for industrial applications (14, 15). Particular properties of the root starch make it an

¹ IFAPA Las Torres y Tomejil, 41200 Alcalá del Río, Seville, Spain.

² Department of Plant & Environmental Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Thorvaldsensvej 40, 1870 Frederiksberg C, Denmark

³ Department of Plant Biotechnology, IRNAS-CSIC, Av Reina Mercedes 10, 41012 Seville, Spain



Figure 1. Ahipa plant at harvest, showing pods and tuber. Photo courtesy E. O. Leidi.

alternative for gluten-free flour (16) or food thickener (15, 17), and it has also been tested for production of biodegradable starch films (14).

Two parts may be distinguished in the root system of ahipa: a cylindrical xylopodium, with sprouting capacity; and the proper tuberous root, which is predominantly fusiform or radish-shaped (7, 18), with a variable thickness depending on the accession (4) and the sowing time and density of plantation (19). The process of tuberization begins at around 60 days after germination by the increased production of root parenchyma cells by the vascular cambium (18). Interestingly, the beginning of tuberization and flowering are simultaneous processes in well characterized day-lengthneutral accessions like AC521 (19), a period in which reproductive pruning, i.e. the removal of flowers, should start for increasing final root yield (4). Available accessions produce a single tuberous root per plant although some individuals produced secondary roots with storage capacity. Ahipa roots constitute a more nutritious energy source than other root crops, providing proteins, dietary fibres and minerals (11, 45). Traditional uses of roots in folk medicine (7) have been related to their curative properties (stomach and lung

diseases) which have yet to be scientifically proved. The dry matter content in ahipa roots ranges from 16.3–21.1% and it contains up to 48–54% starch and 19–28% sugars (17, 20, 21).

The protein contents in the roots are higher than in other starch-accumulating species (manioc, sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas* (L.) Lam.), yam (*Dioscorea* L. spp.)) and they may contribute significantly to its nutritional quality (22). No major storage protein in ahipa roots has been identified and are mostly salt-soluble (60% of total tuber nitrogen) (22).

Seeds

The seeds of ahipa (Figure 1) can potentially become a valuable source of protein and oil for feed and industrial uses once the rotenone content is removed, yielding similar values to soybean (20). The ahipa seeds contain high protein content (22). The high oil content of seeds provides similar fat yield to soybean (*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.) (21) although the main differential features are the high palmitic acid and total tocopherol contents (20). A main deterrent for the use of seeds for feed or food is – as mentioned above – the content of the toxic rotenone ($C_{23}H_{22}O_6$). Variation in rotenone content has been found in ahipa seeds (23) and breeding programmes for developing rotenone-free cultivars are in progress (24).

Agronomy

Most of the available agronomical data on yam bean involve the tropical Mesoamerican relative *P. erosus* (25), but there are main differences between ahipa and *P. erosus* in growth habit, ecophysiology and product quality (4). Cultivation of ahipa in the main production areas of Bolivia (Departments of Chuquisaca and Tarija) follows traditional knowledge and it requires intensive hand labour mostly for management (weeding, reproductive pruning, etc.) (26).

For harvesting roots of marketable size (0.3–0.5 kg), around 180 days of cultivation are required for growing conditions in SW Spain but available accessions are highly variable in final root size. Maximum root weight obtained in isolated plants in field conditions reached 1.5 kg. However, roots for raw materials extraction or for animal feeding should require shorter growth periods. Sowing date affects productivity when delayed as growth season is shortened (27).

Low temperature is a main limiting factor to be considered as it greatly reduced productivity in areas of cool nights (27). Low temperature in the autumn (air temperature just reaching -1°C) may cause frost damage in shoots. Apparently, the species do not show acclimation induced by shortening days and cool nights (28).

Flower pruning and root yield

In order to obtain increased root yield reproductive organs (inflorescences or flowers only) are removed by hand to reduce sink size and avoid fruit-root competition for carbon assimilates and nutrients (29, 30). By following such management practice, a significant increase in root yield is obtained (31, 32) but with the need of intensive manual labour. Assays with growth regulators (gibberellins or ethylene-releasing chemicals) provided satisfactory results for reducing reproductive development and increasing root yields (29). There is an important variation in the number of flowers produced in available accessions (33). In field trials, yield of unpruned accessions ranged from 9 to 40 tonnes ha⁻¹ (20). Seed inoculation with selected rhizobia strains significantly increased root yield soils of low N content (27, 34).



Figure 2. Seed inoculation with rhizobia results in initially spherical nodules which later develop in indeterminate nodules with many branches.

Climate and soil requirements

The limited cultivated areas with the species in South America have a semiarid climate with mean temperatures of 16–18 °C and wide diurnal oscillations and 400–700 mm of annual precipitation (4). The species seems to be rather sensitive to low temperature at germination (optimum around 30°C) or high temperature during vegetation (above 35°C) (35).

Soils from the original habitat of the species in South America may differ widely to those in South Portugal and South West Spain where different ahipa landraces have been tested (27). However, sandy soils with reduced mechanical impedance and good aeration would facilitate root growth and reduce risks of anoxia in rainy seasons.

Nitrogen

distinctive feature over other А carbohydrate-producing crops relies on its N2 fixation capacity with rhizobia (32, 34, 36). Nodules formed in ahipa roots are initially spherical and then develop as indeterminate nodules with many branches (Figure 2). Seed inoculation with effective rhizobia greatly increases root and seed production and the selection of strains for symbiotic effectiveness may provide greater shoot growth and N content (34). Inoculation with superior strains increased significantly ahipa seed and root yield and seed protein content under field conditions. The estimation of N provided by symbiotic N2 fixation reached 160-260 kg N ha-1 while the amount of N left in crop residues was approximately 50 kg N ha-1.

Conclusions

Ahipa, a tuberous-root legume, appears a promising alternative to other traditional crop sources of raw materials, like starch and proteins. Still to be studied are the nutraceutical properties traditionally associated to fresh root consumption. With a low environmental impact and low input requirement, ahipa provides an attractive alternative to traditional sources of carbohydrates for conserving non-renewable and resources maintaining farmer profitability. CTIMES-

References

(1) Campos D, Chirinos R, Gálvez Ranilla L, Pedreschi R (2018) Bioactive potential of Andean fruits, seeds and tubers. Adv Food Nutr Res 84:287-343.

(2) Leidi EO, Monteros Altamirano A, Mercado G, *et al.* (2018) Andean roots and tubers crops as sources of functional foods. J Funct Food 51:86–93.

(3) Delêtre M, Soengas B, Vidaurre PJ, et al. (2017) Ecotypic differentiation under farmers' selection: molecular insights into the domestication of *Pachyrhizus* Rich. ex DC. (Fabaceae) in the Peruvian Andes. Evol Appl 10:498–513.

(4) Sørensen M (1996) Yam bean (*Pachyrhizus* DC.). In: Heller J., Engels J. Hammer K. (eds.), Promoting the Conservation and Use of Underutilized and Neglected Crops 2. International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome, pp. 1–141.

(5) Grau A (1997) Ahipa, la legumbre tuberosa de los Andes. Ciencia Hoy 7:31–38.

(6) Gruca M (2010) Status of *Pachyrhizus ahipa* (Wedd.) Parodi in Bolivia. MSc Thesis, University of Copenhagen, Faculty of Life Sciences, Department of Agriculture and Ecology, Section of Botany, University of Copenhagen.

(7) Ørting B, Grüneberg WJ, Sørensen M (1996) Ahipa (*Pachyrhizus ahipa* (Wedd.) Parodi) in Bolivia. Genet Resour Crop Ev 43:435–446.

(8) Rodriguez JP, Ørting B, Andreasen C, et al. (2017) Ahipa (*Pachyrbizus ahipa* (Wedd.) Parodi: the importance of ethno-ecological knowledge on agro-biodiversity and on-farm conservation in Bolivia, 1994/96–2012. Genet Resour Crop Ev 65:449–469.

(9) Bertero D, Mas Serra MT, Verdú González AM, Trillo C (2009) Plantas andinas y sus usos tradicionales. Ciencia Hoy 19:43-49.

(10) Hilgert NI (1999) Las plantas comestibles en un sector de las Yungas Meridionales (Argentina). Anales Jardín Botánico de Madrid 57:117-138.

(11) Shultz EB, Balick MJ, Bollinger WH, et al. (1989) Lost crops of the Incas. Little-known plants of the Andes with promise for worldwide cultivation. Report Advisory Committee on Technology Innovation, Board on Science and Technology for International Development, National Research Council, National Academy Press, Washington DC.

(12) Dini C, Doporto MC, García MA, Viña SZ (2013) Nutritional profile and anti-nutrient analyses of *Pachyrhizus ahipa* roots from different accessions. Food Res Int 54:255-261.

(13) Zanklan AS, Becker HC, Sørensen M, et al. (2018) Genetic diversity in cultivated yam bean (*Pachyrhizus spp.*) evaluated through multivariate analysis of morphological and agronomic traits. Genet Resour Crop Ev 65:811–843.

(14) López OV and García MA (2012) Starch films from a novel (*Pachyrhizus ahipa*) and conventional sources: Development and characterization. Mater Sci Eng 32:1931-1940.

(15) López OV, Viña SZ, Pachas ANA, et al. (2010) Composition and food properties of Pachyrhizus ahipa roots and starch. Int J Food Sci

Tech 45:223-233.

(16) Doporto MC, Mugridge A, García MA, Viña SZ (2011) *Pachyrhizus ahipa* (Wedd.) Parodi roots and flour: Biochemical and functional characteristics. Food Chem 126:1670-1678.

(17) Forsyth JL, Ring SG, Noel TR, et al. (2002) Characterization of starch from tubers of yam bean (*Pachyrhizus ahipa*). J Agric Food Chem 50:361–367.

(18) Milanez CRD and Moraes-Dallaqua MA (2003) Ontogênese do sistema subterrâneo de *Pachyrhizus ahipa* (Wedd.) Parodi (Fabaceae). Revista Brasileira de Botanica 26:415–423.

(19) Leidi EO, Rodríguez-Navarro DN, Fernández M, *et al.* (2004) Factors affecting root and seed yield in ahipa (*Pachyrhizus ahipa* (Wedd.) Parodi), a multipurpose legume crop. Eur J Agron 20:395–403.

(20) Grüneberg WJ, Goffman FD, Velasco L (1999) Characterisation of yam bean (*Pachyrhizus spp.*) seeds as potential sources of high palmitic acid oil. J Am Oil Chem Soc 76:1309–1312.

(21) Leidi EO, Sarmiento R, Rodríguez-Navarro DN (2003) Ahipa (*Pachyrhizus ahipa* (Wedd.) Parodi): an alternative legume crop for sustainable production of starch, oil and protein. Ind Crop Prod 17:27–37.

(22) Forsyth JL, Shewry PR (2002) Characterization of the major proteins of tubers of yam bean (*Pachyrhizus ahipa*). J Agric Food Chem 50:1939–1944.

(23) Lautié E, Rozet E, Huber P, Quetin Leclercq J (2012) Quantification of rotenone in seeds of different species of yam bean (*Pachyrhizus sp.*) by a SPE HPLC–UV method. Food Chem 131:1531–1538.

(24) Grüneberg W (2011) Ahipa: a nutrient rich crop for a hungry world. (http://cipotato.org/resources/publications/broc hure/ahipa.-a-nutrient-rich-crop-for-a-hungryworld.-project-funded-by-belgian-development-

cooperation?set_language=es&cl=es)

(25) Heredia AZ (1998) El cultivo de la jícama (*Pachyrhizus erosus* (L.) Urban) en la región del Bajío en el Estado de Guanajuato, México. In: Sørensen M, Estrella JE, Hamann OJ, Ríos Ruíz SA (eds.), Proceedings Second International Symposium on Tuberous Legumes, Mexico. MacKeenzie, København, pp. 167-174.

(26) Saldaña García R (2012) Evaluación de la fertilización, densidad y tipos de poda en el cultivo de la ajipa (*Pachyrhizus ahipa* L.) (Wedd. Parodi) en la localidad de Caraparí-Pilaya, Departamento de Chuquisaca. MSc Thesis, Facultad Ciencias Agrícolas y Forestales, Universidad Autónoma Juan Misael Saracho, Tarija, Bolivia.

(27) Leidi EO, Vidueira JM, Cobo J, et al. (2004) Nutrient requirements of ahipa, a tuberous-root crop (*Pachyrhizus ahipa* [Wedd.] Parodi). J Plant Nutr 27:931–945.

(28) Burke MJ, Gusta LV, Quamme HA, et al. (1976) Freezing and injury in plants. Ann Rev Plant Physiol 27:507–528.

(29) Matos MC, Matos AA, Vieira da Silva JB (1998) Effect of manual and chemical pruning on tuber production of *Pachyrhizus ahipa* (Wedd.) Parodi). In: Sørensen M, Estrella JE, Hamann OJ, Ríos Ruíz SA (eds.), Proceedings Second International Symposium on Tuberous Legumes, (Mexico. MacKeenzie, København, pp. 181–189. (30) Nielsen PE and Sørensen M (1998) Reproductive pruning in *Pachyrhizus ahipa* (Wedd.) Parodi. In: Sørensen M, Estrella EJE, Hamann OJ Ríos Ruíz SA (eds.), Proceedings Second International Symposium on Tuberous Legumes,

Mexico, MacKeenzie, København, pp. 245–252. (31) Vaz F, Vieira da Silva JB, Matos MC (1998) Yield of yam bean (*Pachyrhizus ahipa* (Wedd.) Parodi) in a Mediterranean climate. In: Sørensen M, Estrella JE, Hamann OJ, Ríos Ruíz SA (eds.), Proceedings Second International Symposium on Tuberous Legumes, Mexico. MacKeenzie, København, pp. 285-290.

(32) Castellanos JZ, Zapata F, Badillo V, et al. (1997) Symbiotic nitrogen fixation and yield of Pachyrhizus erosus (L.) Urban cultivars and Pachyrhizus ahipa (Wedd.) Parodi landraces as affected by flower pruning. Soil Biol Biochem 29:973–981.

(33) Sørensen M, Grüneberg WJ, Ørting B (1997) Genetic resources of ahipa (*Pachyrhizus ahipa* (Wedd.) Parodi). In: Hermann M, Heller J (eds.), Andean roots and tubers, promoting the conservation and use of underutilized and neglected crops. International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome, pp. 13–73.

(34) Rodríguez-Navarro DN, Camacho M, Temprano F, *et al.* (2009) Assessment of nitrogen fixation potential in ahipa (*Pachyrhizus ahipa* [Wedd.] Parodi) and its effect on yield and nitrogen balance. Exp Agr 45:177–188.

(35) Leidi EO (2002) Leaf gas exchange of *Pachyrbizus ahipa* and *P. erosus* under water and temperature stress. Photosynthetica 40:375-381.

(36) Kjær S. (1992) Biological nitrogen fixation in Pachyrhizus ahipa (Wedd.) Parodi. Ann Bot-London 70:11–17.

Economic and ethnobotanical uses of tubers in the genus *Pueraria* DC

Ashley N. Egan¹

Abstract: Plants in the genus Pueraria DC., including the invasive kudzu, produce large, deep tubers that can weigh upwards of 400 pounds. Within its native Asia, tubers from various Pueraria species have been used for millennia for food and medicine, with more including contemporary uses soil stabilization and enrichment. Three species in particular provide unique ethnobotanical and economic uses: Pueraria tuberosa has been used as a food source and contraceptive for centuries in India; Pueraria candollei var. mirifica is purported to have strong rejuvenating properties, with laboratory research confirming numerous potential medical uses to treat symptoms of menopause in women; Pueraria lobata (kudzu) is a mainstay in traditional and contemporary Chinese medicine and a source of highlyprized starch used to produce fine delicacies in Japan. Here, a synopsis of the ethnobotanical and economical uses of tubers from three Pueraria species are reviewed.

Key words: *Pueraria*, kudzu, Fabaceae, ethnomedicine, Leguminosae

Introduction

Pueraria DC. is a genus of woody lianas or vines native to East and Southeast Asia. Recent molecular systematic work resulted in revision of the genus towards a more natural circumscription of ca. 16 species through the segregation of Haymondia A.N. Egan & B.Pan, Toxicopueraria A.N.Egan & B.Pan, and Neustanthus Benth., and placement of P. stricta Kurz to Teyleria Backer (1, 2). Pueraria species grow as large vines supported by deep root systems with large tubers that can grow to great sizes and depths. Kudzu (Ge Gen in China, Kuzu in Japan; Pueraria lobata subsp. lobata) is the most widely known and widely grown Pueraria species, having been introduced outside of Asia to the United States and elsewhere. The economic and ethnobotanical uses of Pueraria species have been documented for millennia, with kudzu mentioned as far back as 500 B.C. in China (3) and 600 A.D. in Japan (4). The earliest accounts mostly refer to kudzu (also called Ko or Ka) as a source of fibers for cloth making and weaving. Kudzu is also mentioned in China's first medicinal work, Shen Nong Ben Cao Jing (Divine Husbandman's Classic of Materia Medica, Anonymous, ca. 25-200 AD).

While kudzu is often the species most referenced in early, and even contemporary, literature, a number of *Pueraria* species may be or have been interchangeably used for certain purposes, particularly fiber usage. Three species, however, are well known for their economically and ethnobotanically important tubers: kudzu, *Pueraria tuberosa* (patal kumra) and kwao khruea (*Pueraria candollei* var. *mirifica*) (Figure 1). A synopsis of the economic and ethnobotanical use of tubers in each species is offered here.

Pueraria tuberosa

Pueraria tuberosa is likely native to the Himalayan regions, from Pakistan and the western Himalayas to Nepal and Sikkim in India. *Pueraria tuberosa* is also found throughout India, where it has likely become established by escaping cultivation through a long history of ethnobotanical use as food or more particularly in ayurvedic medicine (5). *Pueraria tuberosa*, also known by numerous local vernacular names, not limited to Indian Kudzu, patal kumra, Vidarikanda, or Vidari, has been used as a food source by tribes in the Himalayan regions where the tuber is eaten either raw or more commonly boiled (6).

In ethnomedicine, P. tuberosa has been traditionally used as a rejuvenating tonic towards sexual disorders, inflammation, cardiotonic, diuretic, and galactagogue, among others (7). Many of these ethnomedicinal uses have also heen investigated in the laboratory setting. For example, a tuber mash is used to treat arthritis by tribal people of the Eastern Ghats in Andhra Pradesh (8). Several studies have shown the effectiveness of various P. tuberosa tuber extracts to relieve inflammation through different modes of action, likely through such isoflavonoids as daidzein or puerarin (7) or isoorientin (9). In recent decades, P. tuberosa has been investigated for its properties as a contraceptive, an ethnomedicinal use that has been documented among several Indian tribes for

¹ Department of Biology, Utah Valley University, Orem, UT, USA



Figure 1. A) roots of Kudzu, photo by Emöke Dénes, used under creative commons 2.5 license, https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/2.5/legalcode; B) roots of *Pueraria tuberosa* from India, photo by Pankaj Oudhia, www.discoverlife.org; C) roots of *Pueraria candollei* var. *mirifica* in a market in Thailand, photo by VanLap Hoang used under creative commons 2.0, https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/legalcode; D) flowers and leaves of kudzu in China, photo by Ashley N. Egan.

many years and the effects of which are likely due to the presence of a number of isoflavonoids isolated from the tubers (10, 11).

Pueraria candollei var. mirifica

Pueraria candollei var. mirifica, hereafter P.c. mirifica, is endemic to Thailand where it has a renowned, centuries old history of use as a rejuvenating plant, particularly for its ability to restore vitality to menopausal women and andropausal men. Known as Kwao khruea (กวาวเครือ) in Chiangmai and northern provinces of Thailand, the large tuberous roots are dried and powdered, then mixed with a bit of honey to produce peppercornsized pills that are reputed to restore menstruation to post-menopausal women and hair to bald men (12, 13, 14). A number of other therapeutic effects claimed include improved sleep, promoting appetite and general vigor, reversal of greying hair,

improved and more youthful complexion, and stimulation of breast development (12). Indeed, these 'miraculous' properties are the reason for its name (Latin, *mirificus* = amazing) (15).

Early laboratory research on ethanolic extractions from pulverized tubers of *P.c. mirifica* were shown to induce oestrus in mice (16). Since then, numerous studies have been conducted on *P.c. mirifica* root compounds, elucidating a distinct number of unique phytoesterols, isoflavonoids and coumestans present in the tubers (17). Key players in its efficacy are deoxymiroestrol and miroestrol, compounds from plants that mimic the biological activity of estrogen in humans and have been shown to be the most potent phytoestrogens in nature to date (18, 19).

Myriad laboratory research endeavors have investigated these phytoestrogens. However, the vast majority of these studies have been conducted on non-human mammals, with only a few clinical trials completed. That said, clinical trials show great promise for the relief of various climacteric symptoms in post-menopausal women (14). As an example, in a randomized, double-blind, placebo- controlled study, Manonai *et al.* (20) reported reduced genital tract dysfunction and vaginal dryness and reversal of atrophy of the vaginal wall, all symptoms of menopause in women. Manonai *et al.* (21) also showed that *P.c.mirifica* may help reduce osteoporosis in menopausal women.

Clearly, *P.c.mirifica* includes a number of important phytochemicals that have potential medicinal applications for treatment of menopausal symptoms or as dietary supplements to help ease this transition in women's lives. However, further research, particularly clinical trials, are needed to ascertain efficacy, safety and dosage limits for human use, with standardization of active elements included. The active phytoestrogens within a 1 gram sample of pulverized *P.c. mirifica* tuber can

vary as much as 20-fold, depending on harvest time, geographical region, and extraction protocol (17). Use of P.c.mirifica root is not without its side effects, which, depending upon dosage, can be considerable. For example, study of P.c. mirifica supplementation in Donryu rats found significant induction mammary of adenocarcinomas (22). Several preparations have recently been marketed without regulatory oversight as dietary supplements in the United States, mostly directed towards breast augmentation in women. A simple Google search of "Pueraria mirifica" will call up numerous shopping opportunities for dietary supplements. While the benefits of P.c.mirifica are evident, standardization of chemical contents make its use challenging and warrant caution. Nevertheless, this tuber has numerous positive prospects for medicinal use.

Pueraria lobata

Kudzu has a long ethnobotanical history in Asia and includes a complex nomenclature. The kudzu species complex includes three taxa variously recognized at species, variety, or subspecies level. Most recently, kudzu has been recognized as a variety under the scientific name of Pueraria montana var. lobata (Willd.) Maesen & Almeida ex Sanjappa & Predeep. This taxon includes a complicated synonymy, including Pueraria lobata (Willd.) Ohwi var. lobata. Recent morphological, genomic, and phylogenetic research suggests that Pueraria montana (Lour.) Merr. comprises a distinct morphological and genetic species apart from lobata and thomsonii (A.N. Egan, unpublished data). As such, I champion recognition of Pueraria montana as its own species and adhere to the nomenclature suggested by Ohashi et al. (23), recognizing kudzu [Pueraria lobata (Willd.) Ohwi subsp. lobata] and one sister variety, Pueraria lobata subsp. thomsonii (Benth.) H. Ohashi & Tateishi, sometimes called Thomson's kudzu, but often called kudzu interchangeably.

Kudzu's native distribution includes China, Korea, and Japan, where it's history of ethnobotanical use may correlate with its phylogeography as assessed through microsatellites (24, A.N. Egan, unpublished data). Kudzu is highly prized in these countries where it has been wild-gathered and cultivated for millennia for use as food, fodder, fiber, paper, and medicine (4). Some of the oldest textile fragments unearthed in

Table 1. Selected ethnobotanical and ethnomedicinal uses of Pueraria tubers.

Species (an vernacular	d) Uses	Place Re	eferences			
P. candollei var. mirifica (Airy Shaw & Suvat.) Niyomdham Kwao khruea (Thailand)						
	Rejuvenating tonic	Thailand	13, 15, 47			
<u>P. lobata</u> subsp	. <i>lobata</i> (Willd.) Ohwi Ge Gen, Ka (C	hina); kudzu (United States	<u>Europe);</u>			
<u>ko, kuzu (Japa</u>	<u>un)</u>					
	Soil erosion control	United States	40, 48			
	Soil enrichment	United States	48, 49			
	Food	E & SE Asia, New Guinea, Polynesia, Philippines	50, 39, 51, 38, 52, 53			
	Asthma, colds, fever, skin rashes, influenza, diabetes, flatulence, diarrhea, indigestion and other digestive disorders	E & SE Asia	54-58, 4, 47, 27			
	Deafness	China	59			
	Hypertension symptoms	China	58,60			
	Antidote to croton oil and other poisons	China	57, 47			
	Topical treatment for dog bites	China	57			
	Alcoholism and hangover	China, Japan	4			
	Obesity	Japan	4			
P. lobata subsp. thomsonii (Benth.) H. Ohashi & Tateishi						
	Ailments very similar to kudzu	Asia	see above			
<u>P. tuberosa (Willd.) DC Patal kumra (India - Gondi)</u>						
	Food	India	61, 5			
	Tonic, emetic, galactagogue, cooling medicine, demulcent, and poultice to treat gravel, low fever, ulcers and menorrhagia	India	62			
	Asthma	India	63			

China date to ca. 4,000 BCE and are made of kudzu (25). With Indochina and southwestern China representing the center of diversity of Pueraria, some researchers believe that kudzu originated in China and was brought to Japan and Korea through human-mediated translocation for ethnobotanical use (4). The earliest archeological evidence of kudzu textiles in Japan dates to 300-538 AD from a kofun burial mound on Kyushu and use of kudzu textiles continued for millenia by Samurai and Japanese nobility as evidenced in writings and archeological material dating to the Edo period (1603-1868 AD) (26).

Ethnomedicine and Pharmacology

While kudzu's use as a fiber plays a key role in Asian ethnobotany, the use of its tubers for medicinal, food, and cultural uses continues from ancient times to today. Kudzu is considered one of the most common ingredients in traditional Chinese (27), Japanese, and Korean pharmacopoeias (28). Known as Radix Puerariae in China, root extracts from both *P.l.lobata* (called Puerariae lobatae radix or Ge Gen) and *P.l.thomsonii* (called Puerariae thomsonii radix or Fenge) are used as both food and medicine, sometimes interchangeably (28), although more often P.l.lobata is used medicinally whereas P.l.thomsonii is used as a food source. Recent research has suggested that P.l.lobata has higher concentrations of phytochemicals making it the better candidate for medicinal use. Indeed, a number of biochemical and molecular analyses suggest distinction between root extracts from the different taxa (e.g. 28 - 31). Ge Gen powder is formed from the dried tuber usually of P.l.lobata and is widely sold as a patent medicine in China known as Yufeng Ningxin used to treat spasms and promote blood circulation (28). Much of the contemporary Asian pharmacopoeia stems from traditional ethnomedicinal uses that span millennia and have been documented over the last century (Table 1; for a more extensive review see 32). In China, Ge Gen is also used to treat fever, headache and neck stiffness to promote measles rash manifestation and resolution, promote production of body fluids to relieve thirst and treat diabetes, and to resolve diarrhea (27). In Japan the two varieties of P. lobata are known as kuzu and two traditional medicinal preparations are the use of the whole root dried and powdered used to make teas known as kuzu-ko and the purified, white starch from roots used to make kudzu cream preparations called kakkon (4). Kuzu is prized for its treatment of colds and influenza in Japan. During a kuzu collecting expedition, the author was herself treated with kudzu tea for cold-like symptoms while in Japan. Kudzu teas and preparations are also suggested for treatment of acid indigestion and upset stomach, largely due to its alkaline quality, acting much the same as milk of magnesia.

Many of these uses are attributed to the unique isoflavone and phytoestrogen compounds in the roots, such as Puerarin, Daidzin Daidzein. and other phytochemicals. The pharmacological properties of Puerarin include a wide array of effects. including cardioprotection, vasodilation, antioxidant and anticancer activity, neuroprotection, anti-inflammation, osteogenesis, alcoholism inhibition, and insulin resistance attenuation (33). Modern scientific research has investigated a number of the traditional uses and discovered some remarkable results to treat specific conditions. For example, women lose estrogen during and after menopause, the loss of which can cause bone loss. This is problematic for women who need bone grafts or healing after bone trauma. Given the phytoestrogenic principles of several

chemicals produced by *Pueraria* species (see discussion above under *Pueraria mirifica*), the use of *Pueraria* root extracts to bolster hormonal levels in white rabbits has been shown to aid in bone healing and bone formation (34). Kudzu extracts have also shown effective at helping to combat obesity and reducing serum glucose levels in diabetic patients as well as aiding to decrease alcoholism by reducing the amount of alcohol drunk during a single session (35). However, as discussed above for *P. mirifica*, much of the pharmacological research has been done on non-human mammals and few clinical trials exist (36).

Food Consumption

Kudzu tubers have long been used as a starch source in Asia, the Philippines, New Guinea, Fiji, and New Caledonia, where tubers were cooked by roasting, boiling, or processed for starch flour (18, 37, 38, 39). Perhaps the place where kudzu is most famous as a food source is in Japan, where it is a highly prized source of a fine, clear starch used as a thickening and jelling agent for fine cuisine. Refined kudzu root powder produces a strong starch that jells or sets with a clear, translucent appearance, making it a perfect ingredient to make kudzu-mochi and other fine desserts in Japan (4). Kudzu can be found regularly on restaurant menus in Japan, particularly for kudzu-mochi desserts, kudzu noodles, and other main and dessert courses. To this day, use of kudzu for starch dominates in Nara prefecture, Honshu, where the present-day Morino Yoshino-Kuzu Honpo shop was established over 450 years ago (4).

Given its historical use to treat metabolic syndrome and diabetes mellitus, use of kudzu root as a food source for diabetic and obese patients, and those struggling with digestive disorders, shows promise (4, 36). The author has used kudzu root powder in preparing gravies and puddings for friends and family that are gluten intolerant and for which wheat flour could not be used. In Japan, kudzu root creams and teas are routinely prescribed in hospitals as the major starch source and a main course meal in food preparations for patients with digestion issues (4).

Soil stabilization and enrichment

In its native range, kudzu is contemporarily used for medicine and food, however very different uses were ultimate reasons for kudzu's introduction into the United States nearly 150 years ago. Kudzu was first brought to the United States at the 1876 Philadelphia Centennial Expedition Fair where it was planted outside a Japanese pavilion. It was recognized as a favorable, fast-growing ornamental. Not long after, it was discovered that kudzu's fast growth, deep and large root system, and ability to root at the nodes of stems that contact the ground made it a panacea for soil erosion problems and its large leaves seemed a reasonable forage for cattle (40). Taking advantage of the deep and strong root systems, millions of seedlings were planted by the U.S. government in the early to mid 1900's to stabilize slopes, river and lake banks, and railroad cuts. Further, the U.S. government subsidized farmers to grow acres of kudzu as a cover crop for soil enrichment due to its nodulation and nitrogen enrichment of soils and for fodder (41). It wasn't until the 1950's that America realized the threat of "the plant that ate the south". Today in the U.S., kudzu is known as a notorious invasive species that creates monocultures across the landscape (Figure 2) and can tear down forests. In most states, it is now illegal to plant kudzu, however, personal discussions by the author with various farmers and growers across the southeastern United States found that some still prefer to plant kudzu, particularly along irrigation ditches for soil stabilization (A.N. Egan, personal observations). Currently, kudzu occupies between 4-6 million acres across the American landscape. Eradication of kudzu is a difficult, long, and arduous process due to its deep, penetrating root system and ability to root at the nodes.

Potential for Biofuels

Whilst giving a seminar on the introduction history and genetics of kudzu in Japan, the author was warmly greeted by several Japanese botanists who insisted that, if kudzu truly grew to the extent showcased in the U.S., its harvest and sale of root starch could easily fund her entire research (A.N. program! Egan, personal communication). Indeed, a major reason why kudzu is not considered a noxious weed in its native China, Korea, and Japan, is because it is widely used and wild-harvested in these areas (42). Several researchers and American naturalists have suggested that we do the same. One potential use for kudzu is as a biofuel. Kudzu has been shown to

produce ethanol comparable to that of corn (43). Experiments have shown that acetonebutanol-ethanol fermentation by Clostridium acetobutylicum of kudzu alone, without the need for costly additional nutritional supplements to aid the bacterial fermentation process, was highly successful (44). While the entire plant can be used as a starch and glucose source for fermentation, the roots are the primary starch source. With belowground biomass of between 5 and 13 t ha-1 estimated across Maryland, Alabama, and Georgia, use of kudzu tubers for biofuel production has promise (45). The prospective gain from use of already established kudzu patches across the U.S. will have to be weighed against the upheaval of the soil and environment caused by digging up kudzu's large and deep root systems and the potential invasive spread of cultivation of biofuel species (46).

References

(1) Egan AN and Pan B (2015) Resolution of polyphyly in *Pueraria* (Leguminosae, Papilionoideae): The creation of two new genera, *Haymondia* and *Toxicopueraria*, the resurrection of *Neustanthus*, and a new combination in *Teyleria*. Phytotaxa 218(3):201-226.

(2) Egan AN, Vatanparast M, Cagle W (2016) Parsing polyphyletic *Pueraria*: delimiting distinct evolutionary lineages through phylogeny. Mol Phylogenet Evol 104:44-59.

(3) Keng H (1974) Economic plants of ancient north China as mentioned in *Shih Ching* (Book of). Society for Economic Botany 28:391-410.

(4) Shurtleff W and Aoyagi A (1977) The book of kudzu: a culinary & healing guide. Autumn Press, Brookline, MA.

(5) Ahuja BS (1965) Medicinal Plants of Saharanpur/ Central Council of Ayurvedic Research, Hardwar, India, pp. 62-63.

(6) Rao PS (1958) Non-cereal foods: *Pueraria tuberosa* as food and fodder. Indian Forester 84(5):281-283.

(7) Maji AK, Pandit S, Banerji P, Banerjee D (2014) *Pueraria tuberosa*: a review on its phytochemical and therapeutic potential. Nat Prod Res 28(23):2111-2127.

(8) Babu NJ, Murty PP, Rao GN (2020) Traditional medicinal plants used to treat arthritis by tribal people in Eastern Ghats of Andhra Pradesh, India. Int J Botany Stud 5(3):16-22.

(9) Sumalatha M, Munikishore R, Rammohan A, et al. (2015) Isoorientin, a selective inhibitor of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) from the tubers of *Pueraria tuberosa*. Nat Prod Commun 10(10): 1934578X1501001017.

(10) Shukla S and Mathur R (2002) *Pueraria tuberosa* DC: contraceptive efficacy and toxicological profile. In *Pueraria:* the genus *Pueraria* (pp. 70-82). CRC Press.



Figure 2. Kudzu patch at Bowman's Island, Chattahoochee River National Recreation Area, Georgia. Photo by National Park Service, used with permission.

(11) Unny R, Chauhan AK, Joshi YC, *et al.* (2003) A review on potentiality of medicinal plants as the source of new contraceptive principles. Phytomedicine 10(2-3):233-260.

(12) Kerr A (1932) A reputed rejuvenator. J Siam Soc (Natural History Suppl.) 8:336-338.

(13) Kongkaew C, Scholfield NC, Dhippayom T, et al. (2018) Efficacy and safety of *Pueraria candollei* var. *mirifica* (Airy Shaw & Suvat.) Niyomdham for menopausal women: A systematic review of clinical trials and the way forward. J Ethnopharmacol 216:162-174.

(14) Lamlertkittikul S and Chandeying V (2004) Efficacy and safety of *Pueraria mirifica* (Kwao Kruea Khao) for the treatment of vasomotor symptoms in perimenopausal women: Phase II Study. J Med Assoc Thailand = Chotmaihet thangphaet 87(1):33-40.

(15) Kashemsanta ML, Suvatabandhu K, Shaw HA (1952) A new species of *Pueraria* (Leguminosae) from Thailand, yielding an oestrogenic principle. Kew Bulletin 7:549-552.

(16) Vatna S (1939) A preliminary report on the presence of an oestrogenic substance and a poisonous substance in the storage root of *Butea superba*. Thai Sci Bull 4:3-9.

(17) Ingham, JL, Tahara S, Pope, GS (2002) Chemical components and pharmacology of the rejuvenating plant *Pueraria mirifica*. In *Pueraria:* the genus *Pueraria* (pp. 97-118). CRC Press.

(18) Chansakaow S, Ishikawa T, Seki H, et al. (2000) Identification of deoxymiroestrol as the actual rejuvenating principle of "Kwao Keur", *Pueraria mirifica*: the known miroestrol may be an artefact. J Nat Prod 63(2):173-175.

(19) Malaivijitnond S (2012) Medical applications of phytoestrogens from the Thai herb *Pueraria mirifica*. Front Med-Prc 6(1):8-21.

(20) Manonai J, Chittacharoen A, Theppisai U, Theppisai H (2007) Effect of *Pueraria mirifica* on vaginal health. Menopause 14(5):919-924.

(21) Manonai J, Chittacharoen A, Udomsubpayakul U, *et al.* (2008) Effects and safety of *Pueraria mirifica* on lipid profiles and biochemical markers of bone turnover rates in healthy postmenopausal women. Menopause 15(3):530-535.

(22) Kakehashi A, Yoshida M, Tago Y, *et al.* (2016) *Pueraria mirifica* exerts estrogenic effects in the mammary gland and uterus and promotes mammary carcinogenesis in donryu rats. Toxins 4;8(11):275.

(23) Ohashi H, Tateishi Y, Nemoto T, Endo Y (1988) Taxonomic studies on the Leguminosae of Taiwan III. Sci. Rep. Tohoku Univ. 4th ser. (Biology) 39:191-248.

(24) Haynsen MS, Vatanparast M, Mahadwar G, et al. (2018) De novo transcriptome assembly of *Pueraria montana* var. *lobata* and *Neustanthus phaseoloides* for the development of eSSR and SNP markers: narrowing the US origin (s) of the invasive kudzu. BMC genomics 19(1): 439.

(25) Nanjing Bowuyuan (Nanjing Museum). (1980) Jiangsu Wuxian Caoxieshan yizhi (Remains from Caoxieshan, Wu County, Jiangsu). Wenwu ziliao congkan 3:1-24.

(26) Murai T and Murai R (2014) Changing of kudzu textiles in the Japanese culture. Textile Society of America Symposium Proceedings.

http://digitalcommons.unl.edu//tsaconf/901 (27) Zhu YP (1998) Chinese Materia Medica: Chemistry, Pharmacology and Applications. Harwood Academic Publishers, Amsterdam, pp. 11-15, 92-97.

(28) Zhang G, Liu J, Gao M, *et al.* (2020) Tracing the edible and medicinal plant *Pueraria montana* and its products in the marketplace yields subspecies level distinction using DNA barcoding and DNA metabarcoding. Front Pharmacol 11:336.

(29) Chen SB, Liu HP, Tian RT, et al. (2006) Highperformance thin-layer chromatographic fingerprints of isoflavonoids for distinguishing between Radix Puerariae Lobate and Radix Puerariae Thomsonii. J Chromatogr A 1121(1):114-119.

(30) Chen YG, Song YL, Wang Y, et al. (2014) Metabolic differentiations of *Pueraria lobata* and *Pueraria thomsonii* using 1H NMR spectroscopy and multivariate statistical analysis. J Pharmaceut Biomed 93:51-58.

(31) Jiang RW, Lau KM, Lam HM, et al. (2005) A comparative study on aqueous root extracts of *Pueraria thomsonii* and *Pueraria lobata* by antioxidant assay and HPLC fingerprint analysis. J Ethnopharmacol 96(1-2):133-138.

(32) Keung WM (Ed.). (2002) Pueraria: the genus Pueraria. CRC Press.

(33) Zhou YX, Zhang H, Peng C (2014) Puerarin: a review of pharmacological effects. Phytother Res 28(7):961-975.

(34) Wong R, Rabie B (2007) Effect of puerarin on bone formation. Osteoarthr Cartilage 15(8):894-899.

(35) Liu J, Shi YC, Lee DYW (2019) Applications of *Pueraria lobata* in treating diabetics and reducing alcohol drinking. Chinese Herbal Medicines 11(2):141-149.

(36) Wong KH, Li GQ, Li KM, *et al.* (2011) Kudzu root: traditional uses and potential medicinal benefits in diabetes and cardiovascular diseases. J Ethnopharmacol 134(3):584-607.

(37) Bodner CC and Hymowitz T (2002) Ethnobotany of *Pueraria* species. In *Pueraria*: the genus *Pueraria* (pp. 29-58). CRC Press.

(38) Powell JM (1977) Plants, man and environment in the island of New Guinea. In Winslow JH (ed.), The Melanesian Environment. Australian National University Press, Canberra, pp. 11-20.

(39) Watson JB (1968) *Pueraria*: names and traditions of a lesser crop of the central highlands, New Guinea. Ethnol 7:268-279.

(40) Bailey RV (1939) Kudzu for erosion control. USDA Farmers' Bulletin 1840:1-31.

(41) Stewart MA (1997) Cultivating kudzu: The Soil Conservation Service and the kudzu distribution program. The Georgia Historical Quarterly 81(1):151.

(42) Li Z, Dong Q, Albright TP, Guo Q (2011) Natural and human dimensions of a quasi-wild species: the case of kudzu. Biol Invasions 13(10):2167.

(43) Okhio CB, Misoc F, Asgil AB, *et al.* (2016) Sustainable production of ethanol from kudzu: experimental prototype studies. Clark Atlanta University Faculty Publications, 35.

(44) Wang L and Chen H (2011) Acetonebutanol-ethanol fermentation and isoflavone extraction using kudzu roots. Biotechnol Bioproc E 16(4):739.

(45) Sage RF, Coiner HA, Way DA, et al. (2009) Kudzu [Pueraria montana (Lour.) Merr. variety lobata]: A new source of carbohydrate for bioethanol production. Biomass Bioenerg 33(1):57-61.

(46) Smith AL, Klenk N, Wood S, et al. (2013) Second generation biofuels and bioinvasions: An evaluation of invasive risks and policy responses in the United States and Canada. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 27:30-42.

(47) Perry LM (1980) Medicinal Plants of East and Southeast Asia-Attributed Properties. Massachusetts Institute of Technology Press, Cambridge.

(48) Duke JA (1980) Handbook of Legumes of World Economic Importance. Plenum Pres, New York.

(49) Winberry JJ and Jones DM (1973) Rise and decline of the "miracle vine": judzu in the southern landscape. Southeast. Geographer 13:61-70.

(50) Bowers N (1964) A further note on a recently reported root crop from the New Guinea highlands. J Polynesian Soc 73:333-335.

(51) Strathern AM (1969) Why is the *Pueraria* a sweet potato? Ethnol 8:189-198.

(52) Tanaka T (1976) Tanaka's Cyclopedia of Edible Plants of the World. Sasuke Nakao (ed.), Keigaku Publishing Company, Tokyo.

(53) Bodner CC (1986) On the evolution of agriculture in Central Bontoc. Doctoral dissertation, University of Missouri-Columbia.

(54) Crevost C and Lemarie CC (1917) Catalogue des Produits de l'Indochine, vol. 1, Produits alimentaires et plantes fourrageres, Gouvernement generale de l'Indochine. pp. 133-134.

(55) Hooper D (1929) On chinese medicine: drugs of chinese pharmacies in Malaya. The Gardens' Bulletin Straits Settlements 6:1-163.

(56) Roi J (1955) Traité des plantes médicinales Chinoises. Encyclopédie Biol 47:1-500.

(57) Smith FP (1969) Chinese Materia Medica: Vegetable Kingdom. Ku T'ing Book House, Taipei.

(58) Tseng KY, Chou YP, Chang LY, Fan LL (1975) Pharmacologic studies on *Radix puerariae*. I. Effects of puerariae on blood pressure, vascular reactivity, cerebral and peripheral circulation in dogs. Chin Med J 1(5):335-342.

(59) Anonymous (1975) Treatment of sudden deafness with *Pueraria* root: a comparative analysis of therapeutic results in 294 cases. Chin Med J (English edition) 1(5):343-349.

(60) Quicheng F (1980) Some current study and research approaches relating to the use of plants in the traditional Chinese medicine. J Ethnopharmacol 2(1):57-63.

(61) Dymock W (1885/1886) The Vegetable Materia Medica of Western India. 2nd ed. Educational Society Press, Bombay.

(62) Bodding PO (1927) Studies in Santal medicine and connected folklore. Part II. Memoirs Asiatic Soc Bengal 10(2):133-426.

(63) Saxena HO (1986) Observations on the ethnobotany of Madhya Pradesh. Nelumbo 28(1-4):149-156.

Ethnography of prairie turnip, *Pediomelum* esculentum

Jacob S. Stai¹

Abstract: Prairie turnip, Pediomelum esculentum, is a tuber-producing legume in the tribe Psoraleae, native to the Great Plains of North America. It is an herbaceous perennial (1), emerging in late spring to early summer and flowering in the mid-summer. It was wild-harvested throughout the year by Native Americans in the Great Plains region. Pediomelum is also of interest for evidence of a nitrogen-fixing endophyte, for which there is evidence of vertically-transmitted infection. Key words: Ethnography, underutilized, prairie turnip, Pediomelum

Epigraph

"Other seeds were issued to us, of watermelons, big squashes, onions, turnips, and other vegetables. Some of these we tried to eat, but did not like them very well; even the turnips and big squashes, we thought not so good as our own squashes and our wild prairie turnips. Moreover, we did not know how to dry these new vegetables for winter; so we often did not trouble even to harvest them."– Buffalo Bird Woman, 1917 (2)

Prairie turnip (Pediomelum esculentum (Pursh) Rydb.) is a temperate tuberous member of the family Fabaceae and tribe Psoraleae with chromosome number n = 11 (3). Prairie turnip is native to the Great Plains of North America, ranging from Alberta and Manitoba south to Texas, and from the Front Range to the Mississippi, with populations east of the Mississippi occurring primarily in Wisconsin (4). It prefers welldrained, often rocky soils, and in moderate climates does not require irrigation after seed germination, though irrigation can be beneficial in dry ones (5). It is an herbaceous perennial (1), emerging in late spring to early summer and flowering in the middle of July, with fruit maturation near July's end. In nature, an abscission layer forms 2-5cm belowground after fruiting, 2-5cm above the storage tuber, releasing the whole herbaceous part of the stem system to scatter seed across the prairie like a tumbleweed (1). It does not, however, resemble the famously-invasive Russian Kali tumbles.

Prairie turnip has a roughly egg-sized storage taproot (6) (Figure 1), with a thin inedible bark that must be peeled before consumption (5). Mature taproots are typically produced after two to four years'



Figure 1. *Pediomelum esculentum*. Image courtesy the University of Iowa Press, http://uipress.lib.uiowa.edu/ppi/display.php?r ecord=Psoralea_esculenta

¹ Interdepartmental Genetics and Genomics Graduate Program, Iowa State University, Ames, IA 50011, USA

growth (7), and garden experiments suggested a four-year planting scheme as optimal (10). Reported estimates of protein content vary: Stahnke (1) reported 7.5% protein content by dry weight, whereas the USDA's FoodData Central nutrition database reports ~15% protein by dry weight when raw, half of which remains after boiling (8, 9). The roots have a firm texture even when cooked long (10). When observed under a microscope, the roots contain cells which specialize to store either starch or protein, but not both (1).

Virtually all Native Americans throughout the Great Plains region used prairie turnip as a primary dietary staple or as a significant component of their diet. This was so year round, but especially in the winter months (5). Although popular consciousness treats buffalo hunting as the primary nutritional source for indigenous people on the Great Plains, the importance of vegetable foods to local indigenous economies is plainly seen throughout the historical record. Reid (7) describes a report that the Arapaho and Chevenne exchanged flour pounded from these roots to the Arikara for their cultivated maize, "at a profit of three or four measures for one." Likewise, Reid (7) mentions evewitness historical accounts which reported that at the council preceding their summer bison hunt, the Omaha people would plan their route in a way that accounted for three important things: always wood and a plentiful supply of water foremost, but then also a place where they could gather prairie turnips in great quantities. Great quantities were useful because of the prairie turnip's excellent storage properties, as it keeps almost indefinitely when dried; and if the foliage was maintained, that portion could be braided into ropes for ease of both storage and transport, as the Lakota did (7). Prairie turnip continues to be an active part of the economies and cultures of indigenous communities today; prairie turnip flour is often the secret ingredient in American Indian frybread, as the traditional agent to make it fluffy (11).

One other point about the prairie turnip's anatomy and uses deserves mention: it appears to be the host for a constitutive, vertically-transmitted infection with a nitrogen-fixing endophyte (12). This symbiotic endophyte, described as being most closely related to *Bacillus nealsonii* or *Bacillus circulans*, could be isolated from sterilized seeds from three different sources, as well as from both the nodules and the

tubers of prairie turnips grown under sterile conditions. As Deutscher writes (pg. 43) (12), "The presence of these *Bacillus* spp. in all of these tissue implies the endophyte is passed vertically from one generation to the next and, upon germination, begins a systemic colonization process where it spreads throughout the plant." This represents not just a novel symbiotic partner for a legume, but an entirely different modality by which symbiotic nitrogen-fixing relationships can occur not previously documented in legumes, known rather from sugarcane (13).

Lastly, it must be mentioned that determining which scientific name to use to refer to this species in this article was not entirely trivial. Pediomelum esculentum was settled on, but prairie turnip is commonly referred to by the synonymous name Psoralea esculenta, including in peer-reviewed literature (a few seconds of searching provided the author with examples as recent as 2019). Indeed, many species of the genera Psoralea and Pediomelum are routinely called by equivalent names in both genera, reflecting general confusion. Use of the Pediomelum name was chosen by reference to the 2016 thesis of Abubakar Bello (14), who reconstructed the phylogenetic history of the tribe Psoraleae using eight conserved molecular markers and found strong genetic support for the North American Pediomelum genus and African Psoralea genus that were proposed by Grimes (15).



References

 Stahnk, AL and Reese RN (2003) Morphological examination of prairie turnip (*Psoralea esculenta* Pursh) root. Proceedings of the South Dakota Academy of Science 82:113–117.
 Waheenee (1917) Buffalo Bird Woman's Garden: agriculture of the Hidatsa Indians. Edited by Gilbert Livingstone Wilson, Minnesota Historical Society.

(3) Ockendon D (1965) A taxonomic study of *Psoralea* Subgenus *Pediomelum* (Leguminosae). The Southwestern Naturalist 10(2):81-124.

(4) United States Department of Agriculture (2020) Plants Profile For *Pediomelum Esculentum*. Natural Resources Conservation Service - Plants Database.

https://plants.usda.gov/core/profile?symbol=PE ES

(5) Stahnke A, Hayes M, Meyer K, et al. (2008) Prairie turnip *Pediomelum esculentum* (Pursh) Rydb.: Historical and modern use, propagation, and management of a new crop. Native Plants Journal 9(1):46-58.

(6) Kindscher K (2009) Edible Plants of the Prairie. Symphony in the Flint Hills Field Journal. https://newprairiepress.org/sfh/2009/nature/2

(7) Reid KC (1977) *Psoralea esculenta* as a prairie resource: an ethnographic appraisal. Plains Anthropologist 22(78):321-327.

(8) United States Department of Agriculture (2018) Prairie turnips, raw (Northern Plains Indians). Agricultural Research Service – FoodData Central. https://fdc.nal.usda.gov/fdcapp.html#/food-details/169818/nutrients

(9) United States Department of Agriculture (2018) Prairie turnips, boiled (Northern Plains Indians). Agricultural Research Service – FoodData Central. https://fdc.nal.usda.gov/fdcapp.html#/food-details/168996/nutrients

(10) Norton Naturals. Prairie Turnip—*Pediomelum* esculentum (\$3 for 10 seeds). Norton Naturals. Retrieved May 12, 2020, from https://www.nortonnaturals.com/products/prairi e-turnip-pediomelum-esculentum

(11) Woodard S, quoting Ansel WoodenKnife (2006) "Frybread goes global: small business in the badlands serves huge corporations." Indian Country Today. https://stephaniewoodard.blogspot.com/2011/09

/frybread-goes-global-woodenknife-co.html

(12) Deutscher TR (2016) The endophytes of *Pediomelum esculentum:* a unique case in legume evolution [South Dakota State University]. https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd/1074

(13) Ohyama T, Momose A, Ohtake N, et al. (2014) Nitrogen fixation in dugarcane. Advances in biology and ecology of nitrogen fixation. https://doi.org/10.5772/56993

(14) Bello A (2016) Taxonomy and evolutionary studies on the genus *Psoralea* L. (Psoraleeae, Fabaceae) [University of Cape Town]. https://open.uct.ac.za/handle/11427/23460

(15) Grimes JW (1990) A revision of the New World species of *Psoralea* (Leguminosae: Papilionoideae). Memoirs of the New York Botanical Gardens 61:1-114.

Winged bean, Psophocarpus tetragonolobus

Michael Abberton¹, Taofeek T. Adegboyega¹, Benjamin Faloye¹, Rajneesh Paliwal¹ and Olaniyi Oyatomi¹

Abstract: Many tuberous legumes are underutilized, with little or no research attention given to their genetic improvement, thereby limiting their potential to support food, nutritional, and economic security. Understanding and exploiting the potential of winged bean will enhance its role in regions where it can be cultivated. This crop is utilized as seeds and as tuberous roots, as both have high nutritional value. The Genetic Resources Center (GRC) of the International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), based in Ibadan, Nigeria is focusing on understanding the genetic diversity in our collection and evaluating key traits to build a platform for pre-breeding and breeding.

Key words: Genetic resources, genetic improvement, underutilized, *Psophocarpus tetragonolobus*

Winged bean (*Psophocarpus tetragonolobus* (L.) DC.) is a tropical legume belonging to the family Fabaceae and tribe Phaseoleae, with chromosome number of 2n = 2x = 18. The likely origins of winged bean are in Papua New Guinea, Mauritus, Madagascar and India (1). The genus *Psophocarpus* contains nine species, eight of which are wild (1). Winged bean is a twining perennial plant that is cultivated as an annual and has highly nutritious tuberous roots and quadrangular pods, whose length can be up to 30cm long with longitudinal wings subtended on its vegetative part (Figure 1). The pods contain

¹ International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), P.M.B. 53220, Ibadan, Oyo State, Nigeria



Figure 1. Winged bean plant, showing mature and immature pods.

5-20 seeds, which can vary in colour from white, through varying shades of yellow and brown to black or mottled (Figure 2). Psophocarpus tetragonolobus is commonly called "princess pea," "goa bean," "asparagus pea" (for their delicate asparagus-like flavour of young, immature pods), "four-angled bean," "Manila bean," "supermarket bean," or "winged bean." It combines many of the desirable characteristics of the green bean, garden pea, spinach, mushroom, soybean, bean sprout and potato (1). Apart from the stalk, almost all the entire plant is fit for human consumption. The tender pods are the most widely eaten part of the plant (and best eaten when immature, as the mature green pods are fibrous). The pods can be harvested within two to three months of planting. The tubers contain a high amount of protein in dry weight (20%) (2). The seeds contain a high percentage of crude protein content ranging between 29.8% and 42.5% Harding et al. (3) observed a higher capacity for nodulation and nitrogen fixation in winged bean than in any other tropical legumes such as cowpea, common bean, groundnut, soybean, etc. The exceptionally high protein level in the various plant parts could be attributed to the high nodulation and nitrogen fixing rates (2).

Winged bean is rich in tocopherol, an antioxidant that increases vitamin A use in the body (2). The tubers can be used as a root vegetable, similar to potato, and have a nutty flavour. They are also much richer in protein than potatoes. The dried seeds can be useful as flour and also to make a coffeelike drink. Winged bean can also be used to produce winged bean milk made from water, winged beans, and emulsifier. The milk has similar characteristics as soymilk. Winged bean provides many opportunities for economic benefit. Mature winged bean seeds can command high prices (2). In spite of this promotion it is only rarely found in home gardens or cultivated by farmers (2). GRC is exploring the potential of winged bean by understanding the genetic diversity within our collection and evaluating variation in key traits. CTITES-



Figure 2. Winged tubers (left) and pods and seeds (right).

References

(1) Grubben GJH (2004) *Psophocarpus tetragonolobus* (L.) DC. In: Grubben GJH & Denton OA (Editors). PROTA 2: Vegetables/Légumes. [CD-Rom]. PROTA, Wageningen, Netherlands.

(2) National Research Council (NRC) (U.S.)(1975) Underexploited tropical plants with promising economic value. 2nd Edition. U.S. National Academies.

(3) Harding J, Lugo-Lopez MA, Pariz-Escobar F, (1978) Promiscous root nodulation of winged bean on an oxisol in Puerto Rico. Tropical Agric (Trin) 55:315-324.

Apios americana: natural history and ethnobotany

Scott Kalberer¹, Vikas Belamkar², Jugpreet Singh³, Steven Cannon¹

Abstract: Apios americana, an herbaceous perennial legume with climbing, vinous habit, produces underground stem tubers along stolons. A. americana was wildharvested by Native Americans throughout eastern North America. There is also some evidence of cultivation and transport of landraces. Early historical records of Apios in North America describe its important role in the diet of numerous tribes. Cooking methods included: boiling, frying, drying and grinding into flour. They were cooked, variously, with maple syrup, animal fat, roasted, or used in stews. Apios remains promising as a crop, particularly for its perenniality, its ability to tolerate wet soils, and its adaptation across much of eastern North America, and its nutritional value with high levels of protein and complex starches.

Key words: *Apios americana*, ethnobotany, hopniss, potato bean

Apios americana is an herbaceous perennial legume with a climbing and vinous growth form. It is notable for the stem tubers that form as thickenings along stolons. It has many common names including Groundnut, Wild Bean, Hopniss, Potato Bean, and Indian Potato. The genus Apios is composed of three species native to Asia (A. fortunei, A. carnea, and A. delavayt) and two species found in North America (A. americana, A. priceana) (1, 2). DNA sequence analysis from Apios identifies it as a monophyletic lineage that diverged early from the other Phaseoloid legumes (1). The two North American Apios

¹ Crop Genome Informatics Laboratory, Corn Insects and Crop Genetics Research Unit, USDA-ARS, Ames, IA 50011, USA

² Department of Agronomy and Horticulture, University of Nebraska-Lincoln, Lincoln, NE 68583, USA

³ Plant Pathology and Plant-Microbe Biology Section, Cornell University, Geneva, NY, 14456, USA



Figure 1. Engraving of Apios by Jacques Philippe Cornut, 1635. Cornut was a Parisian physician who obtained specimens for his garden from French traders and explorers. Image credit: John Carter Brown Library, Box 1894, Brown University, Providence, R.I. 02912. JCB call number: E635 C819c.

RESEARCH



Figure 2. Flowers of two accessions from the Blackmon breeding lines (showing differing flower color). Credit for the image: Steven Cannon.



Figure 3. Pods from an accession collected in Sturbridge, Massachusetts. Credit for the image: Steven Cannon.

species form a clade that evolved from Asian ancestors in the late Miocene or early Pliocene after crossing a land-bridge (1). *Apios priceana*, restricted mainly to rocky open woodlands and threatened by habitat loss, is known from 47 populations in 22 counties in Alabama, Kentucky, Mississippi and Tennessee (2). *Apios americana* (referred to henceforth as *Apios*) grows throughout eastern and central North America from southeastern Canada to the Gulf of Mexico (2).

Apios thrives in diverse ecosystems including temperate forests, thickets, prairies, sloughs, riverbanks, pondbanks, seeps, and wetlands (3). Typical locations possess moist soils close to standing or flowing bodies of water, although it can succeed in soils that are much drier (3, 4). Indeed, Apios was often found in upland meadows before fire suppression became commonplace (5), and high productivity and shorter rhizomes are encouraged by well-drained, neutral pH soils (4). Apios grows well in both full or intermittent sunlight and can flourish in loamy, sandy, or gravelly soils (3). Being adapted to many climatic and environmental regimes, Apios can survive both severe flooding and moderate drought (6). As with many of the other legumes, Apios can fix atmospheric nitrogen in the soil through symbiosis with rhizobial bacteria (7).

The Apios vine grows vigorously after initial establishment and can spread 10-20 feet in a growing season. Although the plant does well in open areas by trailing, the vines readily climb up vertical supports such as woody or robust herbaceous plants (Figure 1). The alternate compound leaves have a pinnate arrangement of 3 to 11 ovate leaflets along the rachis with a single terminal leaflet and varying pubescence (4). The fragrant pink, purple, and earth-toned flowers appear in the summer (July-October), clustered in axillary racemes (Figure 2) (3). These flowers produce relatively small pods with seeds roughly the size of mung bean (Vigna radiata) seeds (Figure 3).

The stolon comprises a series of nodes and internodes, axillary buds with scale leaves at the nodes, and a terminal hook (8). The stolon length can range between two to four feet under field conditions in a single growing season (6). Tubers form when the internodes swell at the beginning of the basal zone of each axillary bud. The swelling extends basipetally along the internode while the tubers also expand horizontally (8). The completed tuber usually occupies the region basal to the node where adventitious roots also appear (20-50% of internode), although sometimes the entire internode swells (8). The tuber-laden stolon appears like a beaded string or necklace (9). Tuber characteristics exhibit high variation among Apios populations, including shape, size, number per plant, density per length of stolon, and yield. The mother tuber (overwintering tuber), from which shoots emerge in the spring, also varies in size relative to the daughter tubers produced during the growing season. The smooth and thin skins of young tubers are covered in lenticels, whereas older tubers have a thick and gnarled surface. Tubers exude a creamy latex after cutting as a natural wound-sealing reaction. Apios vines are highly frost sensitive and do not survive the winter. The aboveground shoot system regenerates from the below-ground tubers each spring.

Native Americans used Apios as food throughout its historical range, from the Atlantic coast to as far west as the Missouri river basin (5, 10). The starch and protein rich tubers were of paramount interest, although the seeds were also sometimes cooked and used for food (10). Even though the shoots and flowers are also edible, there are fewer reports of these organs being used in significant amounts. Beardsley (10) reports on its consumption by varied ethnic groups including the Iroquois confederacy, Great Sioux Nation, Menomini, Potawatomi, Meskwaki, Lenape (Delaware), Ojibwe (Chippewa), and Muskogee (Creek). The French Jesuit missionary Le Jeune noted that Native Americans subsisted upon Apios in eastern Canada (10).

European colonists also consumed Apios tubers during the period of settlement (10). Early English visitors to the Atlantic seaboard described Apios as being plentiful, widely distributed, relatively easy to harvest, and tasty when cooked. The pilgrims of Plymouth relied on Apios for survival due to scarce grain supplies during the early years of the colony (10). They learned how to collect and cook the tubers from the Wampanoags (9). James Smith, an 18th century soldier and frontiersman, reported that Apios tasted similar to sweet potatoes after dressing with raccoon fat (10). The Swedish Botanist Peter Kalm, a visitor to eastern North America in 1749, reported that both Swedish and English colonists harvested the tubers and that Native Americans ate both tubers and seeds (10). Speaking from personal

experience, Henry David Thoreau reported on *Apios* as a quality source of food when boiled or roasted (9).

Beardsley (10) mentions various cooking methods used by the Native Americans that include boiling in water, roasting in hot ash, and stewing with meat or corn. Dean (9) describes Native Americans frying the tubers or drying and grinding them into flour. The flavor is described as similar to a potato yet drier and nuttier (9), or as a cross between a potato and boiled peanuts with a mealy texture (4). Foragers report the tubers are sweeter or tastier if dug up following the first frost in late autumn (9). *Apios* tubers make quality chips as the low levels of reducing sugars prevent browning when they are fried (4).

Many Native Americans stored tubers for the winter by peeling and drying them in the sun on racks (10). The Meskwaki and Ojibwe would parboil and slice the peeled tubers before drying them (10). The Menomini made preserves of sun-dried tubers using maple syrup or maple sugar (10). Drying the tubers results in a higher relative protein content than the fresh ones (10). Many contemporary cultivators have found that the tubers store well when kept dormant in a cool and moist location such as a refrigerator, a root cellar, or in soil outside (3).

The tubers are an excellent source of both carbohydrates and protein. The majority of short-length carbohydrates in tubers (86-90%) are glucose and sucrose, with the 10-14% remaining composed of oligosaccharides such as raffinose and stachyose (11). Starch, deposited as granules, makes up almost 70% of the total carbohydrate of tubers (11). The cell walls of tubers comprise cellulose, hemicellulose, and pectins (11). The dry-weight protein content varies from 13-17%; this value is three times greater than found in potatoes or other common root vegetables (4).

We do not recommend eating Apios raw. Pancreatic hypertrophy in rats fed with raw Apios tubers suggested the presence of protease inhibitors that interfere with protein hydrolysis and act as an anti-nutrient (12). Cooking the tubers destroys these compounds and eliminates this problem (12).А few people experience gastrointestinal distress after eating Apios tubers, sometimes after having eaten the tuber previously without negative consequences (3).

Many authorities mentioned the deliberate cultivation of *Apios* by Native American

groups, including the Iroquois and Muskogee (10). Beardsley (10) was unconvinced that Apios was ever intensively cultivated in an organized manner in cleared fields, and more accurately described it as a wild-gathered food. Nevertheless, wild Apios would have been protected from threats and may have been relocated closer to settlements for ease of access (10). Alternatively, Elfers (5) argued that Native Americans produced open savannas through controlled burning and Apios grew there in profusion among the grasses and widely-spaced trees. Apios populations, particularly in drier upland environments, may have been introduced purposefully for human consumption (5). It is also possible that tubers may have been transported over large-scale distances as populations moved to new territories or were exchanged as part of commercial relations among cultures.

Breeding work on *Apios* was carried out by Dr. Bill Blackmon and Berthal Reynolds in Louisiana in the 1980s and early '90s. Further breeding and evaluation work has been continued by researchers and enthusiasts in recent years, as reviewed in Belamkar *et al.* (2020; this issue).



Acknowledgements

We acknowledge the many independent botanists, gardeners, and foraging enthusiasts, who continue the research and exploration of *Apios* as a wild food and crop. This research was supported in part by the US Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service, project 5030-21000-062-00D. USDA is an equal opportunity provider and employer.

References

(1) Li J, Jiang J, Vander Stel H *et al.* (2014) Phylogenetics and biogeography of *Apias* (Fabaceae) inferred from sequences of nuclear and plastid genes. Int J Plant Sci 175:764-780.

(2) Woods M (2005) A revision of the North American species of *Apios* (Fabaceae). Castanea 70:85-100.

(3) Thayer S (Summer/Fall 2002) Hopniss: North America's best wild tuber? Also known as Indian Potato or Groundnut. The Forager's Harvest Newsletter 2(3).

(4) Reynolds BD, Blackmon WJ, Wickremesinhe E et al. (1990) Domestication of Apios americana, pp 436-442. In: Janick J and Simon JE (Eds),

Advances in new crops. Timber Press, Portland, OR.

(5) Elfers, Z (2019) The diggers of groundnuts. https://www.nomadseed.com/

(6) Belamkar V, Wenger A, Kalberer SR *et al.* (2015) Evaluation of phenotypic variation in a collection of *Apios americana*: An edible tuberous legume. Crop Sci 55:712-726.

(7) Parker MA (1999) Relationships of *Bradyrhizobia* from the legumes *Apios americana* and *Desmodium glutinosum*. Appl Environ Microbiol 65:4914-4920.

(8) Juliarni, Goto Y, Nakamura T, et al. (1997) Tuberization in *Apios (Apios americana* Medikus): I. developmental morphology of tuber. Jpn J Crop Sci 66:466-471. (9) Dean T (Nov./Dec. 2007) Stalking the wild Groundnut. Orion Magazine

(10) Beardsley G (1939) The Groundnut as used by the Indians of eastern North America. Papers of the Michigan Academy of Sciences, Arts and Letters 25:507-525.

(11) Ogasawara Y, Hidano Y, Kato Y (2006) Study on carbohydrate composition of *Apios (Apios americana* Medikus) flowers and tubers. J Jpn Soc Food Sci 53:130-136.

(12) Johnson HE (1988) Protein quality evaluation and metabolic effects of *Apios americana* Medikus tubers. MS thesis, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA.

Apios americana: crop improvement and genomic characterization

Vikas Belamkar¹, Jugpreet Singh², Scott Kalberer³, Steven Cannon³

Abstract: Over the last 40 years, several researchers have worked to develop improved cultivars of Apios americana. Notable improvements have been made in yield and tuber size. Research over this period has also led to better understanding of genetic and genomic limitations (e.g. sterile triploid populations) and characteristics of floral biology (an unusual tripping mechanism in the flower, which has made manual pollination difficult). Some genomic resources have also been developed, including transcriptomic assemblies and a genetic map.

Key words: Apios americana, genomic, crop improvement

¹ Department of Agronomy and Horticulture, University of Nebraska-Lincoln, Lincoln, NE 68583, USA Wider adoption of *Apios americana* (hereafter just "*Apios*") by cultivators requires domestication and development of superior cultivars to overcome certain agricultural hurdles. Aggressive stolon and vine growth makes it difficult to prevent their spread to areas where *Apios* may be unwanted or difficult for mechanical harvesting. The *Apios* tubers can be somewhat small and laborious to dig from soil. Moreover, unharvested tubers sprout up in the spring without regard to the field layout and can be similar to volunteer weeds and also inhibit efficient harvesting.

Despite these challenges to industrial-scale *Apios* cultivation, it has been successfully produced commercially in both Japan and South Korea. Indeed, *Apios* has been grown and eaten in the Aomori Prefecture of Japan for over a century (1). *Apios* consumption in East Asia is popular mainly due to consumer confidence in its nutritional benefits and medical properties related to postpartum health, blood pressure, cancer, and osteoporosis (1, 2). In contrast, the inability of Europeans to adapt *Apios* to their known methods of agriculture may help explain its

relative modern disuse (3). Apios was first brought to Europe in the late 16th century and investigated as a potential cultivated crop (4). References to its presence in gardens persist as late as the 19th century; e.g. there was interest in its cultivation in Ireland to provide an alternative to potatoes during the Great Famine of 1845-1852 (4). Nevertheless, these historical attempts at domestication and expanded acceptance were unsuccessful due to such factors as low tuber yields from slow-growing Apios plants (4). Further, the need to develop an alternative to potato was reduced with the development of potatoes resistant to late blight and other diseases (4).

Diploid populations of *Apios* are characteristic of the South and lower Midwest, but triploid populations that bear sterile flowers predominate in the northern part of the United States (5, 6). Diploid and triploid forms are morphologically identical and hard to differentiate in the field (5). Diploid populations spread both sexually by seed and asexually by stolon growth and tuber division, whereas triploid plants totally rely upon asexual means of reproduction (5,

² Plant Pathology and Plant-Microbe Biology Section, Cornell University, Geneva, NY, 14456, USA

³ Crop Genome Informatics Laboratory, Corn Insects and Crop Genetics Research Unit, USDA-ARS, Ames, IA 50011, USA



Figure 1. Apios accession LA-1849, selected by B.D. Reynolds and W. Blackmon in the late 1980s. Photo credit: Steven Cannon, USDA-ARS North Central Regional Plant Introduction Station, 2011, Ames, IA

6). Fruit set is not common even in diploid *Apios*, perhaps due to partial selfincompatibility and lack of genetic diversity among vegetative clones that makes most cross-pollinations into effective selfpollinations (5). Moreover, a lack of suitable insect pollinators that can correctly trip the flowers could also impair sexual reproduction (5). It appeared that only 10% of the flowers were tripped in two Connecticut populations, out of which only 50% set fruits (5).

Dr. William Blackmon, Berthal D. Reynolds, and their colleagues led a breeding program to domesticate Apios from 1985 to 1994 at the Louisiana Agricultural Experiment Station in Baton Rouge (3, 4). Germplasm involving 210 wild accessions was collected from 19 states of the USA, although the majority came from Louisiana followed by Florida and North Carolina (4). A conventional breeding process of hybridization largely involving open pollinations, intermating of selected accessions, and screening for tuber yield was followed by the assessment of over 2,200 Apios breeding lines. They successfully identified advanced breeding lines that

produced larger individual tubers, and with tubers more closely spaced on the stolon (4). Apios genotypes having significant yields after only one season in the ground were identified (4) (Figure 1). Subsequently, targeted breeding efforts were pursued to develop Apios germplasm producing higher tuber yields on un-trellised vines that had reduced tendency to climb and twine and were resistant to aerial web blight disease caused by Rhizoctonia solani (4). This Apios breeding program no longer exists in Louisiana, but Dr. Blackmon preserved about 40 advanced breeding lines of improved Apios at his property in Virginia (3). A set of 40 Blackmon and an additional 13 Apios genotypes are now maintained and cultivated by Dr. Steven Cannon and colleagues in the United States Department of Agriculture in Ames, Iowa.

These 53 genotypes were evaluated during 2010-2013 using 20 above- and belowground trait descriptors at Ames, IA, and with 4 yield-related traits in 2013 at Mechanicsville, VA and Lititz, PA (7). A significant amount of diversity was revealed among the genotypes for 18 traits in fieldgrown plants and for 7 traits in potted and bag-grown plants (7). Fourteen of the 18 traits measured under field-conditions had broad-sense heritability greater than 61% indicating the effectiveness of these phenotypic descriptors for screening new Apios germplasm, and also the ability to breed and develop germplasm and cultivars using these traits (7). They classified 53 Apios genotypes into four phenotypically distinct clusters. One comprised early-emerging, high-yielding genotypes that produced large mother tubers, short stolons, and few child tubers, while another showed high values for all belowground traits except those associated with mother tubers (7). Also, there were late-emerging genotypes that were either intermediate performing or poorly performing (7). The genotypes comprising clusters 1 and 2 represented the two ideotypes of high-yielding genotypes in the collection. In addition, four above-ground measurements (internode length, plant vigor, stem diameter at 2 and 5 months) showed strong phenotypic correlations with tuber number and yield per plant (7). The comprehensive analysis led to identification of Apios breeding lines with consistently high yields up to ~1,500 g tubers per plant

(similar to yields in conventional tuber crops) across geographic locations (7) (Figure 1). The detailed characteristics of each of these high-yielding lines along with 14 traits with high broad-sense heritability can facilitate identification of parental lines for crossing and developing cultivars, and provides a foundational framework for a cultivar development program.

Belamkar et al. (8) conducted next generation RNA sequencing of six tissues of a single Apios genotype to generate a highquality de novo reference transcriptome assembly consisting of 48,615 contigs with average contig length of 1,173 bp, and a gene expression catalog with 28,738 contigs expressed in at least one of the tissues sampled. They also sequenced the leaf transcriptome from an additional 52 Apios genotypes, mapped the reads to the reference transcriptome assembly, and identified 58,154 high-quality single nucleotide polymorphism (SNPs) and 39,609 gene expression markers (GEMs) across the Apios germplasm. A population structure analysis using the SNPs identified 6 genotypic clusters across the Apios collection. These clusters largely matched the pedigree of the genotypes (8). Interestingly, using the GEMs also revealed similar clusters across the Apios collection. This is one of the early studies demonstrating the utility of GEMs equivalent to SNP markers for population structure and marker-trait analysis. Further, the reference transcripts were mapped onto the Phaseolus vulgaris genome to obtain provisional genetic locations for 46,852 **SNPs** and to investigate linkage disequilibrium (LD) in the collection (8). The LD dropped rapidly within 10-15 kb further indicating Apios largely as an outcrossing species. Finally, marker-trait analyses identified 21 SNP markers associated with 14 phenotypic traits (six aboveground and eight belowground), and 28 GEMs associated with nine phenotypic traits (four aboveground and five belowground) (8).

Cross-pollination by insects visiting many plants often results in multiple pollen parents fertilizing seeds within individual pods. Singh *et al.* (9) utilized the open-pollinated behavior of *Apios* to construct a high-density genetic linkage map by assessing the SNP marker segregation in an F_1 population using a pseudo-testcross strategy. The F_1 mapping population was derived from openpollinations between a known maternal parent and 37 potential pollen sources (9). SNPs were identified and genotyped by aligning the expressed sequences of individuals in the mapping population against the maternal parent derived de novo reference transcriptome assembly (9). The sequenced transcriptomes of potential pollen donors further led to eliminate the possibilities of self-pollination in the population (9). This observation matches the rapid LD decay observed across the 52 genotypes and indication of outcrossing mating system of Apios highlighted in (8). The final Apios linkage map had 1,121 recombinationally distinct loci that were distributed over 11 linkage groups and covered a total 939 cM genetic distance (9). Genome sequence comparisons with other members of the Phaseoleae (warm-season legumes) showed extended syntenies for 9 out of 11 Apios linkage groups (9). The markers on linkage groups Lg-01 and Lg-06 displayed linear correspondences with two linkage groups in Phaseolus vulgaris, Vigna radiata, and Vigna angularis as well as four linkage groups in Glycine max (9). Additionally, Singh et al. (9) detected a translocation event that occurred in Lg-08 after the divergence of P. vulgaris and G. max from A. americana, V. radiata, and V. angularis.

In an era of drastic climatic changes, population explosion and food insecurity, alternative crops that are adapted to a range of environmental conditions and are highly nutritious are of great interest. We believe Apios is one such alternative crop with a huge potential to be a crop for the future. Moreover, genome sequencing efforts in combination with automated phenotyping (unmanned aerial vehicles and ground penetrating radars), advanced quantitative genomics (genomic selection and markerselection) and assisted biometrical techniques, and gene-editing tools can help accelerate the process of domestication of orphan crops like Apios.

Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. Bill Blackmon for his pioneering work and for generously sharing germplasm, and Gautam Bhattacharya for encouragement over the course of our work with *Apios*. This research was supported in part by the US. Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service, project 5030-21000-062-00D. USDA is an equal opportunity provider and employer.

CTIME -

References

(1) Ichige M, Fukuda E, Miida S *et al.* (2013) Novel isoflavone glucosides in Groundnut (*Apios americana* Medik) and their antiandrogenic activities. J Agr Food Chem 61:2183-2187.

(2) Nara K, Nihei K, Ogasawara Y et al. (2011) Novel isoflavone diglycoside in Groundnut (*Apios americana* Medik). Food Chem 124:703-710.

(3) Dean T (Nov./Dec. 2007) Stalking the wild Groundnut. Orion Magazine

(4) Reynolds BD, Blackmon WJ, Wickremesinhe E et al. (1990) Domestication of *Apios americana*, pp 436-442. In: Janick J and Simon JE (Eds), Advances in new crops. Timber Press, Portland, OR.

(5) Bruneau A and Anderson GJ (1988) Reproductive biology of diploid and triploid *Apios americana* (Leguminosae). Am J Bot 75:1876-1883.

(6) Seabrook JAE and Dionne LA (1976) Studies on the genus *Apios*. I. Chromosome number and distribution of *Apios americana* and *A. priceana*. Can J Bot 54:2567-2572.

(7) Belamkar V, Wenger A, Kalberer SR et al. (2015) Evaluation of phenotypic variation in a collection of *Apios americana*: An edible tuberous legume. Crop Sci 55:712-726.

(8) Belamkar V, Farmer AD, Weeks NT et al. (2016) Genomics-assisted characterization of a breeding collection of *Apios americana*, an edible tuberous legume. Sci Rep 6:34908.

(9) Singh J, Kalberer SR, Belamkar V et al. (2018) A transcriptome-SNP-derived linkage map of *Apios americana* (potato bean) provides insights about genome re-organization and synteny conservation in the phaseoloid legumes. Theor Appl Genet 131:333-351.

European tuberous *Lathyrus* species

Petr Smýkal¹, László Erdős^{2,3}

Abstract: There are several Lathyrus species, native to Europe, that have either thickened or tuberous roots. The two with tuberous roots are L. linifolius and L. tuberosus. Of these, L. tuberosus ("tuber vetchling") has been widely used in Europe for food. Its uses include flavorings, fodder (from leaves), oil (from seeds), and as a potato-like food (though much richer in protein than potato). The other tuberous Lathyrus species, L. linifolius ("bitter vetch") is of interest for possible medicinal or nutraceutical uses. In particular, it has been reported to serve as an appetite suppressant.

Key words: Lathyrus, tuber vetchling, bitter vetch, Lathyrus linifolius, Lathyrus tuberosus

The European flora has very few native legume species which have tuberous or thickened root. Lathyrus niger (L.) Bernh, L. vernus (L.) Bernh., and L. pannonicus are listed as geophytes (1), owing to thickened roots. niger occurs throughout Europe, Ι. particularly in the Balkans, and it occurs up to Scandinavia. L. vernus grows also in Europe (with the exception of the UK, western France and the northern part of Scandinavia), eastwards to the Altai mountains in Asia. Lathyrus pannonicus is found in the central, eastern, and southern parts of Europe as well as in western and inner Asia (2). These species are perennial early spring plants with fast development and flowering, often before trees are covered with leaves.

However there are two European Lathyrus species which can be considered true tuberous legumes: bitter vetch (L. linifolius L. (Reichard) Bässler) and tuber vetchling (L. tuberosus L.).

Tuber vetchling (Lathyrus tuberosus) is a perennial sprawling plant with edible tubers 3 to 5 cm long attached to roots (Figure 1). The tubers are found at ~14 cm below the soil surface and unbranched roots can reach 70 cm of depth. The tubers form stolons and new roots during the development of the plant. Subsequently, tubers can form new stems and grow as a separate plant. Vegetative propagation of L. tuberosus is very successful and sexual reproduction via seeds occurs to provide genetic diversifications or to colonize new habitats. Typical habitat is grassy places, broad-leaved woodlands, forest margins, hedgerows, and banks up to 1600 m above sea level. It often occurs in disturbed habitats, along roads, in forest margins and weed communities (3). It is assumed that it spread simultaneously with cereal cultivation across Europe. Later on, it was introduced to North America and can be found in Northern Africa.

It is still occasionally grown for its flower

¹ Department of Botany, Palacký University, Olomouc, Czech Republic

 ² Institute of Ecology and Botany, MTA Centre for Ecological Research, Vácrátót, Hungary
 ³ MTA-DE Lendület Functional and Restoration

Ecology Research Group, Debrecen, Hungary



Figure 1. Lathyrus tuberosus plant. Photo courtesy László Erdős.

odour and edible tubers (4). However, this plant was much more widely used in the past. In the 16th century, flowers were distilled to produce perfume. In the 18th century in the Lower Rhine Valley of Germany and in the Netherlands, it was grown on a larger scale to produce tubers which were cooked or roasted for human nutrition (5, 6). Its Dutch name means earthacorn, indicating its use. Similarly, it was commended for its "gentle nutty flavour" ("macusson") in French markets, and a variety of common names differing by regions indicates its widespread use (7). Interestingly, it was also used to flavour scotch whiskey. The production of fermented beverages or bread baking were occasional other uses of the tuber, while oil was pressed from the seeds (7). Borbás (8) noted that in Hungary L. tuberosus was grown (i.e., cultivated) like a crop (9). It gave double benefit: its leaves were used as fodder, while the tubers were eaten by pigs. The tubers were eaten in autumn mainly by children (10). Halász (11) reported than in Moldavia (Eastern Romania), children used to collect the tubers after the fields were ploughed. Sometimes pigs are used to root for the tubers. Also, when the fields are ploughed in the spring,

crows are able to spot the tubers. Thus, the presence of many crows on the ploughfield may indicate that there are the tubers of L. tuberosus (12). Forgó (13) wrote that tubers can be eaten in three ways: i) raw (i.e., uncooked, unroasted), ii) after roasting, or iii) after cooking them in boiling water. It can be eaten as a delicacy, or as a garnish. Its taste is similar to that of chestnut. He adds that in the Netherlands, the tubers were roasted and eaten with tea. The tubers were eaten during famines, but its taste is so good that it was also eaten during times of plenty (13). Forgó adds that pigs also like the tubers, so if this weed is spreading on ploughlands, it can be eradicated by pigs. Recent studies show that L. tuberosus is still consumed by the rural population in Turkey and in Transylvania (14).

Lathyrus tuberosus succeeds on soils where other crops fail to grow, being adapted to a broad range of conditions including high soil salinity. Experiments with *L. tuberosus* as a forage crop were conducted in the beginning of the 20th century in Germany (15) but were abandoned thereafter. The tubers contain 16-20% starch, 5% sugar and 10-12% protein. Notably high is the vitamin C content of 160 mg/100 g (twice as high as the reference daily intake and three times higher than the vitamin C content of lemon) and calcium amount, which is almost twice as high as in cow milk (16). However, α amino-8-oxaly-amino-butyric acid and other lathyrogenic substances are found especially in seeds (7) and care has to be taken when eating regularly or in higher quantities.

A similar tuberous species is bitter vetch (Lathyrus linifolius L. (Reichard) Bässler), also called cairmeal in Gaelic or heath pea. This is also a perennial species, however without climbing habit. It is native to most of Europe except for the eastern and cold climate northern parts and is reported extinct in north Africa (Algeria mountains). It is an endangered species in Switzerland and Austria. It is valued as a horticultural species, being cultivated for aesthetic reasons and aromatic flowers. L. linifolius is found in extensively grazed and ungrazed seminatural, low altitude (20-350 m a.s.l.) grasslands, with soils of low nutrient status and low pH (17,18). Although it is a rather rare plant which is absent in agricultural environment, there are rich ethnobotanical record of uses, predominantly in 17th century historical records from the Scottish highlands (19 - 23). Its root tubers were used

as food in times of famine, to offset symptoms of inebriation, to relieve flatulence, in chest ailments and as a flavouring, mainly of beverages. Raw tubers were also sliced and infused in hot water or alcohol, to produce beverages with a liquorice-like flavour. The tubers were also used as flour and were fermented to make beer, which might be distilled to produce spirits (24). Apparently, before potatoes bitter vetch tubers were harvested and dried to help against famine in the Scottish Highlands (19). The plant fell out of use in the 1800s with the cultivation of the potato, which was easier to farm and produced higher yields. Notably, it is generally reported to promote feelings of satiation. Sir Robert Sibbald, founding member of the Royal College of Physicians, mentions these tubers in his book from 1699, "Provision for the Poor in time of Dearth and Scarcity" (25). The plant was used not only by poor people but also in the court of Charles II in 1685, helping well living people to diet. This property draw attention of researchers today. Its use as an appetite suppressant was rediscovered by Brian Moffat during excavation of the monastery at Soutra Aisle, Scotland's largest medieval hospital (22). He proposed that the monks were using the tubers medicinally. It is also thought that these tubers provided a boost of energy, and were used by soldiers. The active component is suspected to be trans-anethole, derivative а of phenylpropene, which contributes to the odor and flavor of anise and fennel (Apiaceae), anise myrtle (Myrtaceae), liquorice (Fabaceae), although this remains to be confirmed. Recent research revealed that consumption of bitter vetch tubers by rats significantly altered the expression of hypothalamus genes involved in regulating metabolism (26). Therefore, this species has potential for development as a therapeutic and novel crop.



References

(1) Veselý P, Bureš P, Šmarda P, Pavlíček T (2012) Genome size and DNA base composition of geophytes: the mirror of phenology and ecology? Ann Bot-London 109:65–75.

(2) Schlee M, Göker M, Grimm GW, Hemleben V (2011) Genetic patterns in the *Lathyrus pannonicus* complex (Fabaceae) reflect ecological differentiation rather than biogeography and traditional subspecific division. Bot J Linn Soc 165:402–421.

(3) Simon T (2000) A magyarországi edényes flóra határozója. Nemzeti Tankönyvkiadó, Budapest.

(4) Guthmann J (2013) Enzyklopädie Essbare Wildpflanzen: 2000 Pflanzen Mitteleuropas. Bestimmung, Sammeltipps, Inhaltsstoffe, Heilwirkung, Verwendung in der Küche. Fleischhauer, Steffen Guido., Spiegelberger, Roland. Aarau: AT Verlag AZ Fachverlage. ISBN 978-3038007524

(5) Kutschera L (2010) Wurzelatlas mitteleuropäischer Ackerunkräuter und Kulturpflanzen. Lichtenegger, Erwin (Reprint [der Ausg.], Frankfurt am Main, DLG-Verl., 1960 ed.). Frankfurt, M.: DLG-Verl. ISBN 9783769007589.

(6) Pinke Gy, Pál R (2005) Gyomnövényeink eredete, termőhelye és védelme. Alexandra Kiadó, Pécs.

(7) Hossaert-Palauqui M, Delbos M (1983) Lathyrus tuberosus L. Biologie et perspectives d'amélioration. Journal d'Agriculture Traditionnelle et de Botanique Appliquée (in French). 30(1):49–58.

(8) Borbás V (1887) Levélszekrény. Természettudományi Közlöny 19: 475-478.

(9) Dénes A, Papp N, Babai D, *et al.* (2012) Wild plants used for food by Hungarian ethnic groups living in the Carpathian Basin. Acta Societatis Botanicorum Poloniae 81(4):381–396.

(10) Molnár Zs (2013) Adatok a hortobágyi ehető vadnövények és más érdekesebb növényfelhasználások ismeretéhez. Dunántúli Dolgozatok Természettudományi Sorozat 13:77-82.

(11) Halász P (2011) Jóregvel, harmatosan szedjed, ne szólj senkinek... A gyógyító növények természetes erejét segítő hiedelmek a moldvai magyaroknál. Kaleidoscope 2:47-59.

(12) Gunda B (2001) A vadnövények gyűjtése. In: Paládi-Kovács A (ed.): Magyar néprajz II. Gazdálkodás. Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, pp. 11-40.

(13) Forgó G (1817) Rendkívűl való szűkség' idején, a' közönségesen szokásban lévő gabona fajokon kivűl, miből készíthetni még kenyeret Hazánkban, 's mit találhatni még a' mivel ollyankor táplálhassa magát a' szegénység? Tudományos Gyűjtemény 10:41-57.

(14) Yildrim E (2001) Determination of the nutrition contents of the wild plants used as vegetables in Upper Coruh Valley. Turk J Bot 25:367–371.

(15) Hanelt P, Büttner R, Mansfeld R, Institut für Pflanzengenetik und Kulturpflanzenforschung Gatersleben (2001) Mansfeld's encyclopedia of agricultural and horticultural crops: (except ornamentals) (1st English ed.). Berlin: Springer. 2001. ISBN 3540410171.

(16) Schuster WH (2005) Kohlenhydrate in Samen von Getreide und Pseudogetreide sowie in Knollen, Wurzeln und Ganzpflanzen verschiedener Arten. Giessener Elektronische Bibliothek.

(17) Rose F and O'Reilly C (2006) The wild flower key: how to identify wild flowers, trees and shrubs in Britain and Ireland. Frederick Warne Books, London, UK.

(18) Grime JP, Hodgson JG, Hunt R (2014) Comparative plant ecology: a functional approach to common British species. Springer, Berlin, Germany.

(19) Henderson DM, Dickson JH (1994) A naturalist in the Highlands: James Robertson, his life and travels in Scotland 1767–1771. Scottish Academic Press, Edinburgh, UK.

(20) Johnston G (1853) Botany of the Eastern borders. John Van Voorst, London, UK.

(21) Lightfoot J (1777) Flora Scotica: or, a systematic arrangement, in the Linnaean method, of the native plants of Scotland and the Hebrides. White, London, UK.

(22) Moffat B, Francia S, Stobart A (2014) Archaeological Sources for the History of Herbal Medicine Practice: The case study of St John's wort with valerian at Soutra medieval hospital. In: Stobart A, Francia S (Eds), Critical Approaches to the History of Western Herbal Medicine: From Classical Antiquity to the Early Modern Period. Bloomsbury, London, UK, pp 253–270.

(23) Vickery R (1995) A dictionary of plant lore. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK.

(24) Dello JE, Valentine TA, Maluk M, et al. (2019) Towards a characterisation of the wild legume bitter vetch (*Lathyrus linifolius* L. (Reichard) Bässler): heteromorphic seed germination, root nodule structure and N-fixing rhizobial symbionts. Plant Biol J 21:523-532.

(25) Sibbald R (1699) Provision for the Poor in time of Dearth and Scarcity. Early History of Food, 2^{nd} edition. Wing: Edinburgh.

(26) Woods N, Gebril A, Mitchell A, *et al* (2012) Brain changing tubers: gene expression changes following mediaeval tuber consumption. Neuroscience 15:1343–1349. We invite all ILS members to register their contacts and major expertise, and to integrate the website hub of projects with info on past or current projects that they have coordinated, in:

LEGUMESOCIETY.ORG The new ILS website



Conferences, Legume Perspective issues ...

THE INTERNATIONAL LEGUME SOCIET

... and much more!

Search

Q

Home People - Projects Journals - Conferences -

ILS Football Cup - Poznan 2019 Event associated with the Third ILS Conference

The four teams...

Georg Carboon Weijsech Uteksonal Iger Hulady Hena Mecked Actors Hulady

ILS Members projects and profiles...



Website contact: nelson.nazzicari@crea.gov.it





First ILSC: A Legume Odyssey 9 – 11 May 2013, Novi Sad, Serbia

Second ILSC: Legumes for a sustainable world 11 – 14 October 2016, Tróia, Portugal





Third ILSC: Legumes for human and planet health 21 - 24 May 2019, Poznań, Poland

JOIN US AT THE



Legume Perspectives is an international peerreviewed journal aiming to interest and inform a worldwide multidisciplinary readership on the most diverse aspects of various research topics and use of all kinds of legume plants and crops.

The scope of *Legume Perspectives* comprises a vast number of disciplines, including biodiversity, plant evolution, crop history, genetics, genomics, breeding, human nutrition, animal feeding, nonfood uses, health, agroecology, beneficial legumemicroorganism interactions, agronomy, abiotic and biotic stresses, agroeconomy, sociology, scientometrics and networking.

The issues of Legume Perspectives are usually thematic and devoted to specific legume species or crop, research topic or some other issue. They are defined by the Editorial Board, led by the Editor-in-Chief with the help from Assistant Editors, who select and invite one or more Managing Editors for each issue. Having accepted the invitation, the Managing Editor agrees with the Editorial Board the details, such as the deadline for collecting the articles and a list of the tentative contributors, from whom he, according to his own and free choice, solicit the articles fitting into the defined theme of an issue. A possibility that every member of the global legume research community, with а preference of the International Legume Society members or established authorities in their field of interest, may apply to the Editorial Board to be a Managing Editor and suggest a theme for his issue is permanently open and can be done simply by contacting the Editor-in-Chief by e-mail, with a clearly presented idea, structure and authors of the potential issue.

Since one of the main missions of Legume Perspectives is to provide as wide global readership with the insight into the most recent and comprehensive achievements in legume science and use, the articles published in Legume Perspectives are usually concise, clear and up-to-date reviews on the topic solicited by the Managing Editor from each author. Managing Editor is solely responsible for collecting the articles from the authors, anonymous peer-review, communicating with the Technical Editor and providing the authors with the proofs of their manuscript prior to the publication. Apart from review articles, *Legume Perspectives* is keen on publishing original research articles, especially if they present some preliminary results of an outstanding significance for legume research and before they are published in their full volume, as well as brief reports on already held and announcements about the forthcoming national and international events relating to legumes, descriptions of the projects on legumes, book reviews, short articles on legumes in popular culture or everyday life, fiction stories on legumes and obituaries. The authors of such contributions are advised to contact the Editor-in-Chief first, in order to present the draft of their idea first and receive a recommendation if it is appropriate.

Regardless of the article category, *Legume Perspectives* prefers a clear, simple and comprehensive writing style that would make its articles interesting and useful for both academic and amateur audience. Your article is expected to assist in the exchange of information among the experts in various fields of legume research.

Legume Perspectives welcomes either longer (900-1,100 words + up to 3 tables, figures or photos + up to 10 references) or shorter (400-500 words + 1 table, figure, photograph or drawing + up to 4 references) manuscripts. The Editor-in-Chief, depending on the opinion of the Managing Editor, may allow any variation in length or structure, from case to case.

The manuscripts for Legume Perspectives should be prepared in Microsoft Office Word, using Times New Roman font, 12 points size and single spacing. Please provide each manuscript with a 100-word abstract and 4-6 key words listed alphabetically. The references should follow the style of the published papers in this issue, be given in full and listed by appearance. The tables may be incorporated in the manuscript, while figures, photographs or drawings should be submitted separately as jpg files with a resolution of at least 600 dpi. The authors whose native language is not English are strongly advised to have their manuscripts checked by a native English speaker prior to submission and be persistent in following only one of all the variants of English they themselves prefer.

Publishing articles in Legume Perspectives is free.





INTERNATIONAL LEGUME SOCIETY CÓRDOBA, SPAIN http://www.ias.csic.es/grainlegumesmagazine/



SPANISH NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL www.csic.es



INSTITUTO DE TECNOLOGIA QUÍMICA E BIOLÓGICA ANTÓNIO XAVIER (UNIVERSIDADE NOVA DE LISBOA) OEIRAS, PORTUGAL www.itqb.unl.pt

Want to help the legume research network in Europe and worldwide? Support Legume Society and its journal today! Iegume.society@gmail.com